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Bram Kreté, business manager Food & Beverage:

‘We have had a new food & beverage strategy for Schiphol since the beginning
of 2024. Our goal is to be a leader when it comes to hospitality, quality and
diversity of the F&B offering. Travellers will notice the quality improvement

in coffee and bread first. As of 2025, the quality of coffee and bread will be
significantly better at many catering locations in the terminal.’
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Consolidated statement of income

(in thousands of euros) Note
Revenue 5
Other results from investment property 6
Cost of outsourced work and other external costs 7
Employee benefit expenses 8
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment expenses 9

Total operating expenses

Operating result

Financial income
Financial expenses

Financial income and expenses 28

Share in result of associates and joint ventures 16

Result before tax

Income tax expense 15

Result for the year

Attributable to:
Shareholders
Non-controlling interests

Notes to the company

financial statements Other information
2024 2023
2,244,777 1,851,973
164,828 -150,595
1,154,714 1,061,063
356,813 290,290
353,604 344,147
1,865,131 1,695,500
544,474 5,878
44,996 88,624
-63,578 -86,297
-18,582 2,327
40,497 22,726
566,389 30,931
-148,225 -8,873
418,164 22,058
406,803 12,706
11,361 9,352

Royal Schiphol Group - 2024 Annual Report
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

(in thousands of euros)

Result for the year

Foreign currency translation differences

Changes in fair value on hedge transactions, net of tax

Share in other comprehensive income of associates and joint

ventures, net of tax

Other comprehensive income, net of tax, to be
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods

Remeasurements of defined benefit liability, net of tax

Other comprehensive income, net of tax, not to be
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods

Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

Attributable to:

Shareholders

Non-controlling interests

Note 2024

418,164

21 -9,282
21 -5,027

16, 21 1,944

-12,365

21 -1,586

-1,586

-13,951

404,213

392,852
11,361

2023

22,058

-11,425
-6,922

-4,230

-22,577

-4,088

-4,088

-26,665

-4,607

-13,959
9,352

Royal Schiphol Group - 2024 Annual Report
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Consolidated statement of financial position

(in thousands of euros)

Assets

Intangible assets

Assets used for operating activities

Assets under construction or development
Investment property

Deferred tax assets

Investments in associates and joint ventures
Loans to associates and joint ventures
Other non-current financial assets

Non-current assets

Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Current income tax receivables
Short-term deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Current assets

Total assets

Note

1
12
13
14
15
16
17
18

19
15
20
20

31 December 2024 31 December 2023

243,650
3,619,130
1,945,859
1,901,847

225,534

471,034

109,917

15,678
8,532,649

10,736
385,313
585,342
450,524

1,431,915

9,964,564

159,477
3,419,114
1,602,756
1,598,538

325,162

485,597

113,141

19,304
7,723,089

384,403
755
376,760
784,743
1,546,661

9,269,750

Other information

(in thousands of euros)

Equity and liabilities

Issued share capital
Share premium
Retained earnings
Other reserves

Treasury shares

Equity attributable to owners of

the company

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Borrowings

Employee benefits
Provisions

Deferred tax liabilities
Other non-current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings

Current income tax liabilities
Provisions

Trade and other payables
Current liabilities

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

Note

21
21
21
21
21

21

22
23
24
15
25

22
15
24
26

Royal Schiphol Group - 2024 Annual Report

31 December 2024 31 December 2023

84,511
362,811
3,829,833
-30,534
-420,320

3,826,301

73,613
3,899,914

4,721,238
51,741
18,884

7,233
104,362
4,903,458

506,667
36,168
12,504

605,853

1,161,192

6,064,650

9,964,564

84,511
362,811
3,429,676
-23,229
-420,320

3,433,449

65,086
3,498,535

4,574,154
44,827
23,387
13,362
99,213

4,754,943

376,808
924
15,222
623,318
1,016,272

5,771,215

9,269,750
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Equity attributable to owners of the company

Issued Share Retained Other Treasury Non-controlling
(in thousands of euros) Note share capital premium earnings reserves shares Subtotal interests Total
Balance at 1 January 2023 84,511 362,811 3,416,970 3,436 -420,320 3,447,408 58,478 3,505,386
Result for the year - - 12,706 - - 12,706 9,352 22,058
Other comprehensive income for the year 21 - - - -26,665 - -26,665 - -26,665
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 12,706 -26,665 - -13,959 9,352 -4,607
Payments of dividends 21 - - - - - - -2,744 -2,744
Balance at 31 December 2023 84,511 362,811 3,429,676 -23,229 -420,320 3,433,449 65,086 3,498,535
Result for the year - - 406,803 - - 406,803 11,361 418,164
Other comprehensive income for the year 21 - - - -13,951 - -13,951 - -13,951
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 406,803 -13,951 - 392,852 11,361 404,213
Payments of dividends 21 - - - - - - -2,834 -2,834
Other movements - - -6,646 6,646 - - - -

Balance at 31 December 2024 84,511 362,811 3,829,833 -30,534 -420,320 3,826,301 73,613 3,899,914
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Consolidated statement of cash flow

(in thousands of euros) Note

Operating activities
Result for the year

Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss 15
Share in result of associates and joint ventures 16
Financial income and expenses 28

Operating result

Adjustments for:

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment expenses 9
Other results from investment property 6
Other non-cash changes in other receivables and liabilities
Change in employee benefits and other provisions

Movements in working capital

Cash generated from operating activities

Income taxes paid

Interest paid

Interest received

Dividends received 16

Net cash flows from operating activities

2024

418,164

148,225
-40,497

18,582
544,474

353,604
-164,828
-2,018
-42,753
688,479

-16,573
-75,843
39,712
48,244
684,019

2023

22,058

8,873
-22,726
-2,327
5,878

344,147
150,595
472
-5,178
31,896
527,810

-15,854
-79,416
26,777
18,792
478,109

Other information

(in thousands of euros) Note

Investing activities

Payments for intangible assets 11
Payments for property, plant and equipment 12,13
Acquisition of subsidiaries 16
Acquisition of and contributions to associates and

joint ventures 16
Proceeds from loans to associates and joint ventures 16
Disposal of associates and joint ventures 16
Settlement of joint operations

Investments in other equity interests

Investments in deposits

Proceeds from deposits

Net cash flows used in investing activities

Financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings 22
Repayment of borrowings 22

Dividend paid

Proceeds from other non-current liabilities
Payment of lease liabilities

Cash flows from collaterals

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Exchange and translation differences

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 20

2024

-80,926
-975,594
-34,173

-1,016
1,940
1,733

-691
-630,000
420,000
-1,298,727

590,991
-309,000
-2,834
9,684
-8,848

279,993

-334,715
784,743
496
450,524

Royal Schiphol Group - 2024 Annual Report

2023

-54,091
-608,154

-6,150
25,111

-585,000
895,463
-332,821

-383,999
-2,772
521
-6,648
-18,430
-411,328

-266,040
1,050,846
-63
784,743
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1. General information

Royal Schiphol Group N.V.is a public limited liability company with its registered seat and office in the
municipality of Haarlemmermeer at Evert van de Beekstraat 202, 1118 CP, Schiphol, the Netherlands.
Royal Schiphol Group N.V. trades under the name of Schiphol Group, Luchthaven Schiphol and Royal
Schiphol Group, and is registered with the Dutch Chamber of Commerce under number 34029174.
Schiphol Groups "Why' is ‘Connecting your world’, its airports provide connectivity for passengers
and businesses from around the world, allowing international trade, tourism and the exchange of
knowledge to flourish.

The consolidated financial statements of Royal Schiphol Group N.V. and its subsidiaries for the
year ended 31 December 2024 have been prepared by the Management Board of the company
and authorised by the Supervisory Board for issue on 13 February 2025, and will be submitted for
adoption to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders (AGM) on 8 April 2025.

2. Accounting policies

2.1. Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of Schiphol Group have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as endorsed by the European Union (EU-IFRS) and also
comply with the financial reporting requirements included in Section 362(9) of Part 9, Book 2 of the
Dutch Civil Code.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for

the following:

— certain financial assets and liabilities (including derivative financial instruments), which have
been measured at fair value;

— certain classes of property, plant and equipment, and investment property, which have been
measured at fair value or revalued amount; and

— assets held for sale, which have been measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value
less costs to sell.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in euros and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand (€000) except when otherwise indicated. The consolidated financial statements
provide comparative information in respect of the previous period. Some items in the comparative
information have been reclassified for presentation purposes.

Notes to the company
financial statements

Other information Royal Schiphol Group - 2024 Annual Report

Schiphol Group has prepared the financial statements on the basis that it will continue to operate as
a going concern.

2.2. Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Royal Schiphol Group
N.V.and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024. Controlis achieved when Schiphol Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, Schiphol Group controls an investee
if, and only if, Schiphol Group has:

— Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee);

— Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

— The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this

presumption and when Schiphol Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, Schiphol Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has

power over an investee, including:

— The contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee;
— Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
- Schiphol Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

Schiphol Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary
begins when Schiphol Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when Schiphol Group
loses control of the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the equity
holders of the parent of Schiphol Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies in line with Schiphol Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and
liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If Schiphol Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including
goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling interest and other components of equity, while any resultant
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognised at fair value.

The following subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements of Schiphol Group
are considered to be individually significant (a full list of subsidiaries is filed with the Chamber
of Commerce):

Direct / indirect

Legal name of entity Registered in shareholding in %

Avioport Srl Lonate Pozzolo, Italy 100.00
Cargonaut Nederland B.V. Schiphol, The Netherlands 100.00
Cargonaut IPB.V. Schiphol, The Netherlands 100.00
Eindhoven Airport N.V. Eindhoven, The Netherlands 51.00
Kappé Schiphol B.V. Hoofddorp, The Netherlands 100.00
Luchthaven Lelystad Vastgoed B.V. Lelystad, The Netherlands 100.00
N.V. Luchthaven Lelystad Lelystad, The Netherlands 100.00
Rotterdam Airport B.V. Rotterdam, The Netherlands 100.00
Rotterdam Airport Vastgoed B.V. Rotterdam, The Netherlands 100.00
Schiphol Australia Pty Ltd Schiphol, The Netherlands 100.00
Schiphol Commercial B.V. Schiphol, The Netherlands 100.00
Schiphol International B.V. Schiphol, The Netherlands 100.00
Schiphol Nederland B.V. Schiphol, The Netherlands 100.00
Schiphol Telematics B.V. Schiphol, The Netherlands 100.00
Schiphol USA Inc. New York, United States of America 100.00

Theinterestin Kappé Schiphol B.V.is acquired on 18 January 2024, see note 10 Business combinations
for further information. No other changes in shareholdings in significant subsidiaries occurred
during the year.

Further information on the impact of the non-controlling interest in Eindhoven Airport
N.V. on Schiphol Group's consolidated financial statements is provided in note 21.4 Non-
controlling interests.

Notes to the company
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2.3. Summary of accounting policies

2.3.1 Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is
measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, which is measured at acquisition
date fair value, and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each

business combination, Schiphol Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests

in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net

assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred on the acquisition date and included in
administrative expenses.

Schiphol Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired set of activities and
assets include an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability
to create outputs. The acquired process is considered substantive if it is critical to the ability to
continue producing outputs, and the inputs acquired include an organised workforce with the
necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform that process or it significantly contributes to
the ability to continue producing outputs and is considered unique or scarce or cannot be replaced
without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to continue producing outputs.

When Schiphol Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed
for appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any previous interest held
over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed).

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the
acquisition date, allocated to each of Schiphol Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to
benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are
assigned to those units.
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2.3.2 Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which Schiphol Group has significant influence. Significant influence
is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not
control or joint control over those policies. A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint venture.
Joint controlis the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The considerations made in determining significant influence or joint control are similar to those
necessary to determine control over subsidiaries.

Schiphol Group's investment in its associate and joint venture are accounted for using the equity
method. Under the equity method, the investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised at cost. The carrying amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in
Schiphol Group’s share of net assets of the associate or joint venture since the acquisition date.
Goodwill relating to the associate or joint venture is included in the carrying amount of the
investment and is not tested for impairment separately.

The statement of income reflects Schiphol Group’s share of the results of operations of the associate
or joint venture. Any change in OCl of those investees is presented as part of Schiphol Group’s OCI.
In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint
venture, Schiphol Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the statement of
changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between Schiphol Group
and the associate or joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate or
joint venture.

For associates or joint ventures with a year end different from Schiphol Group, unaudited financial
statements as at the reporting date of Schiphol Group are used to determine Schiphol Group's share
in the results and OCI of the associate or joint venture. The financial statements of the associate or
joint venture are, when necessary, adjusted to bring the accounting policies in line with those of
Schiphol Group.

After application of the equity method, Schiphol Group determines whether it is necessary to
recognise an impairment loss on its investment in its associate or joint venture. At each reporting
date, Schiphol Group determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the
associate orjoint ventureisimpaired. If there is such evidence, Schiphol Group calculates the amount
of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate or joint venture
and its carrying value, and then recognises the loss within ‘Share of profit of an associate and a joint
venture’ in the statement of income.

Other information Royal Schiphol Group - 2024 Annual Report

2.3.3 Fair value measurement
Schiphol Group measures financial instruments such as derivatives, and non-financial assets such as
investment properties, at fair value at each reporting date.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value of an assetor a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. A fair value
measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

Schiphol Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

— Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

— Level 2: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable;

— Level 3: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring
basis, Schiphol Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy
by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at each reporting date.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, Schiphol Group has determined classes of assets and
liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of
the fair value hierarchy, as explained above.

Fair-value related disclosures for financial instruments and non-financial assets that are measured at
fair value or where fair values are disclosed, are summarised in the following notes:

Note 28.3
Note 14

- Quantitative disclosures of fair value measurement hierarchy

— Investment properties

197



Notes to the consolidated
financial statements

Consolidated
financial statements

Company

Contents financial statements financial statements

2.3.4 Revenue

Nearly all of Schiphol Group's activities comprise the provision of services. Schiphol Group recognises
revenue when it transfers control over a service to the customer. Revenue is either measured based
on the consideration consulted and set according to the Aviation Act (airport charges), specified in
a contract with the customer (e.g. concessions, rent and leases) or based on rates published publicly
(e.g. parking fees). Each of the charges and rates relates to distinct services and does not contain
financing components.

Revenues from the handling of flights, aircraft, passengers and baggage and from the provision of
parking space (reported as airport charges and parking fees) qualify as revenue from contracts with
customers. The airport charges are recognised at a pointin time and parking fees are recognised over
time. Revenue from the granting of concessions and letting of investment property and retail space
qualifies as revenue from leases and is recognised on a straight-line basis over the contract period.

Total revenue represents the income from the services provided less discounts and taxes (VAT, excise
duty and flight taxes). Revenue equals total revenue less the revenue from intra-group transactions.

As regards the main activities of Schiphol Group, revenue is recognised as follows:

Airport charges

Revenue from airport charges consists of passenger service charges, security service charges,
aircraft-related fees and aircraft parking fees, rates are differentiated by passenger type and aircraft
type. Revenue is recognised at a point in time. Given this method of revenue recognition, there are
no performance obligations with regard to the revenues from airport charges as at the reporting
date. Airport charges are invoiced on a weekly basis and the standard contractual payment term is
three weeks.

The activities of the Aviation business area (at Amsterdam Airport Schiphol) are regulated. This
means that the process of setting the airport charge rates is subject to supervision by the Dutch
Authority for Consumers and Markets (ACM) and that the aviation sector must be consulted as part
of this process, which takes place every three years to set the tariffs for the next three-year period.
When setting the aviation charges, the Aviation business area's profitability is capped at an average
weighted cost of capital for reqgulated assets; both the asset base and the cost of capital must be
determined in compliance with the Aviation Act.

In submitting its proposal, the operator (Amsterdam Airport Schiphol) provides the users (the
airlines) with a report on quality indicators as stipulated in the Amsterdam Airport Schiphol
Operation Decree. The charges for all of the airport activities should be transparent. This also
applies to the revenue from operations that are directly associated with the aviation activities at
the airport which are factored into the charges. For this purpose, the operator is required to keep

Notes to the company

Other information Royal Schiphol Group - 2024 Annual Report

separate accounts for the airport activities, including sub-accounts for the costs of security relating
to passengers and their baggage and the revenue generated by security charges. For theincome and
expenses of these activities, the operator has implemented an industry-standard allocation system
that is proportionate and comprehensive.

Under the Aviation Act, Schiphol Group must settle surpluses and deficits from specified income
and expenses with the users (the airlines). Settlement takes place after the respective financial year
and preparation of the financial statements of the Aviation and Security reporting segments, in
accordance with the Aviation Act and the applicable new airport charge rates. Surpluses and deficits
eligible for settlement in the airport charge rates are not recognised as assets and liabilities in the
statement of financial position.

The regional airports are not regulated up to a five million passenger limit. Eindhoven Airport
reached this limit, as a consequence of which the tariffs of this airport are regulated as of 1 April
2019. As is the case for Amsterdam Airport Schiphol, the airport charges at Eindhoven Airport must
be consulted with the airlines and must be transparent, reasonable and non-discriminatory. After
setting the rates (in this case for one year in advance only), the airlines have the opportunity to object
to the rates with the ACM. Unlike Amsterdam Airport Schiphol, Eindhoven Airport is not required to
settle surpluses and deficits with the industry. No regulatory procedures apply to the setting of the
airport charges of Rotterdam The Hague Airport and Lelystad Airport as passenger numbers at these
airports are below the five million passenger limit.

Parking fees

Parking fees are recognised over time, in proportion to the service supplied at the reporting date.
Parking revenues are for the most part collected immediately after the service has ended. A smaller
partis collected at the moment the service is reserved ahead online. Revenues from business parking
are invoiced on a monthly basis and the standard contractual payment term is two weeks. As a
consequence of the above, with regard to the majority of revenues from parking fees, there are no
unfulfilled performance obligations as at the reporting date.

Other activities

Revenue from other activities mainly consists of revenue from advertising, transport of electricity, gas
and water, telecommunication services and other services and activities on behalf of third parties.
Most of this revenue qualifies as revenue from contracts with customers and is recognised over time,
in proportion to the service supplied at the reporting date.
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2.3.5 Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attached conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods that the related costs,
for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed and presented as a reduction of the related
expense. When the grant relates to an asset, it is deducted from the carrying amount of the asset
and recognised in profit or loss as a reduction of depreciation over the expected useful life of the
related asset.

2.3.6 Income taxes

Income taxes comprise current tax payable or receivable and deferred tax. Income taxes are
recognised in the income statement unless they relate to items recorded directly in equity or other
comprehensive income, in which case the tax is recorded directly in equity or other comprehensive
income as well.

Current income tax

Currentincome tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from
or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those
that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countries where Schiphol
Group operates and generates taxable income.

Current tax payable or receivable in respect of the reporting period is the tax that is expected to be
paid on the taxable profit for the reporting period and adjustments to the tax payable or receivable
for prior periods. The tax payable or receivable is computed on the basis of tax rates and laws
enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting date. Income taxes include all taxes based on
taxable profits and losses including non-deductible taxes payable by subsidiaries, associates or joint
ventures. Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

Deferred income tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting
date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in respect of temporary differences between the
carrying amount of assets and liabilities according to tax legislation and the accounting policies
used in preparing these financial statements. Deferred tax assets, including those arising from the
carry forward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits, are recognised if it is probable that there
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will be sufficient future taxable profits against which tax losses can be offset, allowing the assets to
be utilised.

No deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised when:

1. temporary differences arise from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit or loss nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences.

temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
to the extent that Schiphol Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each
reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable
profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

In assessing the recoverability of deferred tax assets, Schiphol Group relies on the same forecast
assumptions used elsewhere in the financial statements and in other management reports.

Schiphol Group offsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if and only if it has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a netbasis, or torealise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled
or recovered.

Pillar Two

Schiphol Group has determined that the global minimum top-up tax, which it is required to pay
under Pillar Two legislation, is an income tax in the scope of IAS 12. Schiphol Group has applied

a temporary mandatory relief from deferred tax accounting for the impacts of the top-up tax and
accounts for it as a current tax if and when it is incurred.
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2.3.7 Foreign currencies

Schiphol Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in euros, which is also the
parent company’s functional currency. For each entity, Schiphol Group determines the functional
currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency.

Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group's entities at their respective
functional currency spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency spot
rates of exchange at the reporting date. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.

Group companies

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into euros at the rate
of exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their statements of profit or loss are translated
at exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The exchange differences arising

on translation for consolidation are recognised in OCI. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of OCl relating to that particular foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss.

2.3.8 Non-current assets held for sale

Schiphol Group classifies non-current assets as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. Non-current
assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value
less costs to sell. Costs to sell are the incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an asset
(disposal group), excluding finance costs and income tax expense.

The criteria for held for sale classification are regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable,
and the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Actions required to complete
the sale should indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes to the sale will be made or that the
decision to sell will be withdrawn. Management must be committed to the plan to sell the asset and
the sale expected to be completed within one year from the date of the classification.

Property, plantand equipmentandintangible assets are not depreciated or amortised once classified
as held for sale. Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are presented separately as current
items in the statement of financial position.
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2.3.9 Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of
intangible assets acquired in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses.

Internally generated intangibles, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised and
the related expenditure is reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the expenditure is
incurred. Development cost of internally generated intangibles (such as software) is capitalised only
if the expenditure can be measured reliably, the product or process is technically and commercially
feasible, future economic benefits are probable and Schiphol Group intends to and has sufficient
resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and goodwill are not amortised, but are tested for
impairment annually, either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. The assessment

of indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be
supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal (i.e., at the date the recipient obtains control) or
when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising upon
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the statement of profit or loss.

The useful lives of Schiphol Group's intangible assets are summarised as follows:

Contract-related assets 33 years
IT development 3-10 years
Software licences 3-5years
Goodwiill indefinite
Nitrogen rights indefinite
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2.3.10 Assets used for operating activities

Assets used for operating activities include runways, taxiways, aprons, car parks, roads, buildings,
installations and other assets. These assets are stated at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Historical cost includes directly attributable costs.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when itis probable that Schiphol Group will derive future economic benefits from
them and the amount can be measured reliably.

Assets used for operating activities, with the exception of land, are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful life of the asset, which depends on its nature and components.
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted if appropriate.

The net result on disposals is determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and is
recognised in the income statement as other income.

The costs of day-to-day maintenance are recognised in the income statement, and the costs of
planned major maintenance improving the existing assets are accounted for by applying the

component accounting method.

The useful lives of Schiphol Group's assets used for operating activities are summarised as follows:

Runways, taxiways and aprons 7-60 years
Paved areas, roads, etc.:

- Car parks 30 years
- Roads 15-40 years
- Tunnels and viaducts 40 years
- Drainage systems 20-60 years
Buildings 15-60 years
Installations 3-30 years
Other assets 5-20 years
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2.3.11 Assets under construction or development

Assets under construction or development are assets which are, at the reporting date, not yet
available or ready for their intended use. These assets are not yet amortised or depreciated, but
tested for impairment annually. Assets under construction or development for operating activities
are presented as a separate category in Schiphol Group's consolidated statement of financial
position. All other assets under construction or development are presented within the assets of their
respective nature.

2.3.12 Investment property

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent toinitial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the
reporting date:

— Buildings are appraised by external independent valuators. Granted lease incentives are taken
into account in determining the fair value, but are presented separately in Schiphol Group's
consolidated statement of financial position.

— The majority of land plots is appraised based on internal valuations, based on inputs obtained
from external independent valuators. The fair value of long-leased land is calculated by
discounting the value of the future annual ground rents and the residual value under
the contracts concerned (discounted cash flow 'DCF' method). A smaller portion of land
plots (changing annually) is appraised by external independent valuators to validate the
appropriateness of the internal valuation model.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise, including the corresponding tax effect.

Investment property under construction or development is measured at fair value provided that the
fair value can be measured reliably. As long as this is not possible, the property is measured at cost.
Any difference between fair value and historical cost is recognised in the income statement under
‘Other income and results from investment property’. On completion, the property is transferred at
fair value to ‘Investment property’.

Investment properties are derecognised either when they have been disposed of (i.e., at the date
the recipient obtains control) or when they are permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefit is expected from their disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in profit or loss in the period of derecognition.

Transfers are made to (or from) investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer
from investment property to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting
is the fair value at the date of change in use. If owner-occupied property becomes an investment
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property, Schiphol Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy for Assets used for
operating activities up to the date of change in use.

2.3.13 Leases

At inception of a contract, Schiphol Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if it conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Schiphol Group as lessee

Asingle recognition and measurement approach is applied for all leases, except for short term leases
(with a term shorter than 12 months) and leases of low-value assets (assets with a value below 5.000
euros). Schiphol Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets. For short term leases and leases of low-value
assets, lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made
at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives
of the related assets.

At the commencement date of the lease, Schiphol Group recognises lease liabilities measured at
the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. To determine the present
value, the interest rate implicit in the lease is used. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the
incremental borrowing rate is used. The lease liability is subsequently accounted at amortised cost.
The carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in
anindex or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option
to purchase the underlying asset.

Schiphol Group as lessor
Leases in which Schiphol Group acts as lessor are classified as either an operating lease or a finance
lease at the inception of the lease.

Leases in which Schiphol Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases:

— Rentalincome arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term and is included
in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature.
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— Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as
rental income.

— Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases where beneficial ownership of the asset is transferred to a third party are classified as
finance leases:

— The asset subject to the finance lease is derecognised.

— Avreceivable is recorded, measured at the present value of the minimum lease payments
receivable at the inception of the lease (the net investment in the lease). The interest rate
implicit in the lease is used to measure the net investment in the lease. The lease receivable is
subsequently accounted at the amortised cost method.

Concessions

A concession grants the holder non-exclusive rights to operate and manage a commercial activity
in a specific location designated by Schiphol Group. Concession income qualifies as variable lease
payments, since it depends on predetermined percentage scales that are linked to the revenues of
the concession holder. Concession income is recognised on a straight-line basis where the scales
set are linked to the annual sales of the concession holder in the financial year. If the revenue
period specified in a contract is different from Schiphol's financial year, an estimate of the expected
revenue and scale will be made and recognised. In these instances, revenue is also recognised on

a straight-line basis. Concessions are invoiced on a monthly basis and the standard contractual
payment term is two weeks.

Rent and leases

Income from rent and leases relates to the letting of (investment) property and retail space, as in
general,inaddition to the concession agreement, a separate contractis entered into with concession
holders in which a fixed rent is payable for the retail space rented by the concession holder. Income
from rent and leases is recognised as revenue in the income statement on a straight-line basis over
the contract term of the agreement. Rent and leases are invoiced in advance, mostly on a quarterly
basis, and the standard contractual payment term is two weeks.

Rent holidays, discounts on rent and other lease incentives are recognised as an integral part of the
gross rental revenues. Service charges relate to the costs of energy, concierges and maintenance
which may be charged to the tenant under the lease. The part of the service costs allocated to
property investments which have not been let is recognised as an expense in the income statement.

Income from concessions, rents and leases is included in the Revenue line in the statement ofincome.
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2.3.14 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised
as part of the cost of the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

2.3.15 Financial instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial
liability or equity instrument of another entity.

Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost,
fair value through other comprehensive income (OCl), or fair value through profit or loss. The
classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash
flow characteristics and Schiphol Group's business model for managing them.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through
Odl, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)" on the
principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an
instrument level. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPl are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. Schiphol Group’s business model for
managing financial assets refers to how it managesits financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through OCl are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.

A financial asset is initially measured at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not
subsequently accounted for at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
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Subsequent measurement

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in either of the
following categories:

— Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments): these financial assets are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired. Schiphol
Group's financial assets subsequently accounted for at amortised cost include cash and cash
equivalents, deposits, trade receivables, loans to associates and joint ventures and other loans.

— Financial assets at fair value through OCI: Schiphol Group currently does not have any financial
assets classified in this category.

— Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: these financial assets are measured at fair
value with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss. This category
includes derivative financial instruments and equity investments for which the investee is not
assessed to be an associate, joint venture or subsidiary.

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired
or when Schiphol Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the asset.

Impairment

Schiphol Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debtinstruments not
held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual

cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that Schiphol Group expects
to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash
flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective
of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL). A significant increase in the risk is deemed to have
occurred if payment of repayment and/or interest is more than 30 days past due. The debtor is in
default if payment is more than 90 days past due.
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For trade receivables, Schiphol Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore,
Schiphol Group does not track changes in credit risk, butinstead recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. Schiphol Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors
and the economic environment.

Impairments of financial assets are included in the line Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
in the consolidated statement of income.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments
in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings
and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Schiphol Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings and
derivative financial instruments.

Subsequent measurement

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial liabilities are classified in either of the
following categories:

— Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss:

— Financial liabilities held for trading: Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they
are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This category also includes
derivative financial instruments entered into by Schiphol Group that are not designated as
hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IFRS 9. Gains or losses on liabilities
held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

— Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss:
Schiphol Group has not designated any financial liability as at fair value through profit or loss.

— Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings): these financial liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost by applying the effective interest rate method.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition

and fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The amortisation from

applying the effective interest rate method is included as finance cost in the consolidated
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statement of income. When financial liabilities are derecognised, any gains or losses are
recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled
or expires, any resulting gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new
liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

In line with the company's financial risk management, derivative financial instruments are used

to hedge the risk of changes in future cash flows or fair value mainly connected with periodic
interest payments and repayments of funding resulting from movements in market interest rates
and foreign exchange rates. The instruments used to hedge these risks are interest rate swaps and
currency swaps. At inception of designated hedging relationships, the company documents the risk
management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge as well as the economic relationship
between the hedged item and the hedging instrument, including whether the changes in cash flows
of the hedged item and hedging instrument are expected to offset each other.

Derivative financialinstruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried

as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as financial liabilities when the fair value

is negative.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

— Fairvalue hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset
or liability or an unrecognised firm commitment
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— Cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to variability in cash flows that is either
attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable
forecast transaction or the foreign currency risk in an unrecognised firm commitment

— Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation

Fair value hedges

The change in the fair value of a hedging instrument is recognised in the statement of income. The
change in the fair value of the hedged item attributable to the risk hedged is recorded as part of the
carrying amount of the hedged item and is also recognised in the statement of income. For fair value
hedges relating to items carried at amortised cost, any adjustment to carrying amount is amortised
through income from the moment the hedged item ceases to be adjusted for changes in its fair value
attributable to the risk being hedged. If the hedged item is derecognised, the unamortised fair value
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in OCl in the
cash flow hedge reserve, while any ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the statement
of income. The cash flow hedge reserve is adjusted to the lower of the cumulative gain or loss

on the hedging instrument and the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item. Schiphol
Group designates only the spot element of forward contracts as a hedging instrument. The forward
element is recognised in OCl and accumulated in a separate component of equity under cost of
hedging reserve. The amount accumulated in OCl is reclassified to income as a reclassification
adjustment in the same periods during which the hedged cash flows affect income. If cash flow
hedge accounting is discontinued, the amount that has been accumulated in OCI must remain in
accumulated OCl if the hedged future cash flows are still expected to occur. Otherwise, the amount
will be immediately reclassified to income as a reclassification adjustment.

Hedges of a net investment

Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, including a hedge of a monetary item that

is accounted for as part of the net investment, are accounted for in a way similar to cash flow
hedges. Gains or losses on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge are
recognised as OCl while any gains or losses relating to the ineffective portion are recognised in the
statement of income. On disposal of the foreign operation, the cumulative value of any such gains
or losses recorded in equity is transferred to the statement of income.
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2.3.16 Impairment of non-financial assets

Schiphol Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be
impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (such as
for goodwill or assets with indefinite useful lives), Schiphol Group estimates the asset's recoverable
amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU'’s fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use. The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the
asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions
are taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is
used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly
traded companies or other available fair value indicators.

Schiphol Group bases its impairment calculation on the most recent budgets and forecast
calculations, which are prepared separately for each of Schiphol Group’s CGUs to which the
individual assets are allocated.

Impairment losses, if any, are recorded in the line Depreciation, amortisation and impairments in the
consolidated statement of income.

2.3.17 Treasury shares

Own equity instruments that are reacquired (treasury shares) are recognised at cost and deducted
from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation
of Schiphol Group’s own equity instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount and the
consideration, if reissued, is recognised in the share premium.

2.3.18 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when Schiphol Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a pastevent, itis probable thatan outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and areliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax
rate that reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.
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2.3.19 Employee benefits

Schiphol Group identifies four categories of employee benefits:
— short-term employee benefits;

— post-employment benefits;

— other long-term employee benefits;

— termination benefits.

These categories are explained below, along with descriptions of the Schiphol Group employee
benefits included in these categories.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are benefits payable within a year after the reporting date in which
the employee rendered the service. Within Schiphol Group, this category includes wages and salaries
(including holiday pay) and fixed and variable allowances, social security contributions, paid sick
leave, profitsharing and variable short-term remuneration. The costs of these employee benefits are
recognised intheincome statementwhenthe service is rendered or the rights to benefits are accrued
(e.g. holiday pay).

Post-employment benefits

These are employee benefits that are due after completion of employment. They include pensions

and job-related early retirement benefits. Schiphol Group’s pension plan is administered by

Algemeen Burgerlijk Pensioenfonds (ABP). The pension planis regarded as a group scheme involving

more than one employer that qualifies as a defined-contribution plan because:

— the members bear the actuarial and investment risks practically in full;

— the affiliated employers have no supplementary obligation to make additional contributions in
the event of a deficit at ABP, nor are they entitled to any surpluses in addition to paying the
premium set by ABP;

— each year the premium is set by the ABP board on the basis of its own file data, with due regard
for the prescribed parameters and requirements.

Accordingly, in measuring the obligations arising from the pension plan, Schiphol Group merely
recognises the pension contributions payable as an expense in the income statement.
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The obligation covering job-related early retirement benefits is calculated according to actuarial
principles and accounted for using the method described in 1, 2 and 3 below. In these cases, a net
asset or liability is recognised in the statement of financial position, comprising:

1. the present value of the defined-benefit obligation at the reporting date, measured using the
projected unit credit method, under which the present value of the pension obligation for each
member is determined on the basis of the number of active years of service prior to the reporting
date, the estimated salary level at the expected date of retirement and the market interest rate;

2. less any past service cost not yet recognised. If, owing to changes in the pension plans, the
expected obligation based on future salary levels with respect to prior years of service (past
service costs) increases, the amount of the increase is recognised in full in the period in which the
rights are granted;

3. less the fair value at the reporting date of plan assets (if any) out of which the obligations are to
be settled directly. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as
therelated serviceis provided. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that
a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available.

Other long-term employee benefits

These are employee benefits which do not fall wholly due within a year of the end of the period

in which the employees render the related service. At Schiphol Group, this includes, among others,
supplementary disability benefits, long-service awards and sustainable employment budget.

The expected costs of supplementary disability benefits are recognised in full in the statement of
income from the date on which an employee is declared partially unfit for work. The liabilities
with respect to supplementary disability benefits, long-service awards and sustainable employment
budget are measured at the present value of the obligation.

Termination benefits

These are employee benefits payable as a result of either a decision by Schiphol Group to terminate
an employee’s employment before the normal retirement date or an employee's decision to accept
voluntary redundancy in exchange for such benefits. Benefits under the scheme supplementing
the statutory amount of unemployment benefit are another example of termination benefits. The
costs are recognised in full in the income statement as soon as such a decision is made. Termination
benefits are recognised at the present value of the obligation.

206



Notes to the consolidated
financial statements

Consolidated
financial statements

Company

Contents financial statements financial statements

2.3.20 Cash flow statement

The cash flow statement is prepared using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents within
the cash flow statement consist of all cash balances, deposits held at call at financial institutions,
and short-term highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash. Liquid investments with an original maturity
exceeding three months are reported under trade and other receivables. Given the purpose of
these investments (to finance capital expenditure in the short term), the movements in these
investments are not reported as part of movement in working capital but as part of cash flow from
investing activities.

Cash flows from short-term credit facilities are classified as cash flows from financing activities. Cash
flows in foreign currencies are translated at an estimated average rate. Currency differences on
cash and cash equivalents are separately disclosed. Income tax, interest received and interest paid,
and dividends received are classified as cash flows from operating activities. Capitalised interest is
presented consistently with interest cash flows that are not capitalised. Paid dividends are classified
as cash flows from financing activities.

The acquisition of a group company or subsidiary is classified as a cash flow from investing activities
for the part that was paid in cash. Available cash and cash equivalents within the acquired company
or subsidiary are eliminated. This also applies in the case of the sale of a group company.

Non-cash transactions are not included in the cash flow statement. Payments of lease instalments
under a finance lease contract are classified as cash flows from financing activities as regards the
part relating to redemption and as cash flows from operating activities as regards the part relating
to interest.
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2.4. Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

2.4.1 New standards effective

The accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are consistent with
those applied in the previous year, except for the adoption of new standards effective as of 1 January
2024. Schiphol Group has not early adopted any standard, interpretation or amendment that has
been issued but is not yet effective.

The following standards and interpretations apply for the first time to financial reporting periods
commencing on or after 1 January 2024:

- Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of liabilities as current or non-current

- Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7: Supplier finance arrangements

— Amendments to IFRS 16: Lease liability in a sale and leaseback

These standards have been determined to have no material impact on the financial reporting of
Schiphol Group.

2.4.2 New standards not-yet effective

The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to
the date of issuance of Schiphol Group’s financial statements are disclosed below if they potentially
could have a materialimpact on Schiphol Group's consolidated financial statements. Schiphol Group
intends to adopt these new and amended standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they
become effective.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

This standard was issued in April 2024 by the IASB, but is not yet endorsed by the European
Union. This standard replaces IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. IFRS 18 introduces

new requirements for presentation within the statement of income, including specified totals

and subtotals. Furthermore, entities are required to classify all income and expenses within the
statement of income into one of five categories: operating, investing, financing, income taxes and
discontinued operations, whereof the first three are new. It also requires disclosure of newly defined
management-defined performance measures, subtotals of income and expenses, and includes new
requirements for aggregation and disaggregation of financial information based on the identified
‘roles’ of the primary financial statements (PFS) and the notes.

IFRS 18 and some related narrow-scope amendments to other standards, are effective for reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, but earlier application is permitted and must

be disclosed. IFRS 18 will apply retrospectively. Schiphol Group is currently working to identify

all impacts the amendments will have on the primary financial statements and notes to the
financial statements.
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3. Critical judgements and estimates

The preparation of Schiphol Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the
carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.

Assumptions and estimates used are reassessed at each reporting date and revised where
necessary. To a significant degree, these assumptions and estimates are based on past experience
and on Schiphol Group's management's best estimate of specific circumstances which —in the
management's view — apply in the given context.

Climate and environmental-related matters

Schiphol Group considers climate and environmental-related matters in judgements, estimates and
assumptions, where appropriate. This assessment includes a wide range of possible impacts on
Schiphol Group due to both physical and transition risks. Even though Schiphol Group believes
that demand for flying and hence aviation will continue to exist after the transition to a low-
carbon economy, there is uncertainty on extent and timing of climate and environmental-related
matters which could have an impact on the judgements, estimates and assumptions underpinning
several items in the financial statements. Although climate and environmental-related risks might
not currently have a significant impact on measurement, Schiphol Group is closely monitoring
relevantchanges and developments, such as new climate and environmental-related legislation. The
principal areas where the measurement of itemsis strongly influenced by judgements, estimates and
assumptions are discussed in further detail below, including any considerations around climate and
environmental-related matters.

Going concern

Several assumptions and estimates were made by management in determining the forecasts and
different scenarios to be able to conclude on Schiphol Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
Judgement is required in projecting the future cash flows. Management considered the following
with regard to Schiphol Group's ability to continue as a going concern as at 31 December 2024:

— Traffic continued to recover significantly from the COVID-19 pandemic during 2024, which
had a positive impact on the results of Schiphol Group. Traffic has nearly recovered towards
pre-pandemic levels, however further recovery to pre-pandemic levels is uncertain and is subject
to-inthe mediumterm-the latestintention by the government to reduce the maximum number
of flight movements at Amsterdam Airport Schiphol to 478,000.

— Management has prepared a budget for 2025 together with a long-term financial forecast and
has run several sensitivities on this forecast. The forecast and sensitivities take into account a
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continued traffic recovery towards the maximum number of ATMs in combination with the
potential operational constraints within the sector to reach the maximum number of ATMs.

— Thefinancial forecasts include the announced investment portfolio of 6 billion up through 2029
and the effect of the expected aviation charges for the period 2025-2027.

—  Schiphol Group started 2024 with a significant liquidity position and was able to attract
additional funding in 2024 via the issuance of a 600 million euro bond to fund its investment
program in the short term. Furthermore, Schiphol Group has access to 850 million euros of
committed facilities and Schiphol Group is confident that it will be able to attract funding
for the entire investment program in the longer term, while remaining to comply with
relevant covenants.

Based on the considerations above, management expects Schiphol Group to have adequate
resources to continue its activities for at least the next 12 months and that the going concern basis
of accounting remains appropriate.

Useful lives and residual values of intangible assets and assets used for operating activities
Estimates of useful lives and residual values are significant inputs to determine (accumulated)
amortisation/depreciation on intangible assets and assets used for operating activities.

The useful life of an asset and its estimated residual value may change under the influence of
technological developments, market circumstances, changes in the use of the asset or changes

in climate and environmental-related legislation and regulations. The estimated useful life and
residual value of anassetis reassessed if changes in circumstances occur or new information becomes
available which indicate a possible change estimates.

Estimates of useful lives of significant classes of Schiphol Group's assets as of 31 December 2024 are
disclosed in notes 2.3.9 and 2.3.10.

Fair value of investment property

The fair value of investment property is dependent on significant assumptions. The valuation
methodology applied and key assumptions used in determining the fair value of investment
property as at 31 December 2024 are disclosed in note 14 Investment property.

Schiphol Group believes that investors, to some extent, would consider impacts of climate and
environmental-related matters in their valuation, such as increasing requirements for energy
efficiency of buildings due to new legislation and regulations as well as tenants' increasing demands
for low-emission buildings. This has been taken into account in determining the fair value of
investment property.
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Impairment of non-financial assets

Impairment testing requires management to make a number of significant judgements and
estimates. In preparing the 2024 consolidated financial statements, the following key judgements
and estimates were made for the purpose of impairment testing:

— Identification of cash generating units (CGUs): The identified CGUs have not changed in
2024 and comprise of Amsterdam Airport Schiphol, Eindhoven Airport, Lelystad Airport,
Rotterdam The Hague Airport and BACH and TGHC as individually significant equity accounted
investees (see also note 16 Investments in associates and joint ventures). The activities acquired
from Kappé (see note 10 Business combinations) were fully allocated to CGU Amsterdam
Airport Schiphol.

— Assessing whether there is an indication that an asset or CGU may be impaired.

— For CGU's for which a quantitative impairment analysis is performed, determining the value in
use of each CGU by reference to a discounted cash flow model, for which the following inputs
were used:

— Projected future cash flows, based on, amongst others, expected developments in passenger
numbers and ATMs (within the ranges defined in currently applicable legislation) and capital
expenditure plans.

— For CGU Amsterdam Airport Schiphol specifically: expected aviation charges for the new
regulatory period (2025-2027) and the outcomes of the settlement mechanism included in
the Aviation Act as disclosed in note 5 Revenue.

— Discountrate: post-tax discount rates were used ranging from 5.8%-8% (2023: 7%-10%). For
CGU Amsterdam Airport Schiphol the regulated WACC was used as an input in determining
the discount rate for impairment testing purposes.

In addition, the value in use of Schiphol Group's assets may be impacted in several different ways
by climate and environmental-related transition risks, such as new legislation and regulations and
changes in demand for Schiphol Group's services. Schiphol Group has aligned the estimates which
are potentially impacted by climate or environmental-related assumptions with currently applicable
legislation and regulation.

CGU Amsterdam Airport Schiphol ("AAS")
The following table provides an overview of the carrying amount of non-financial assets for which

annual impairment testing is required and the key assumptions used in determining the value in use
of CGU AAS:
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(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Carrying amounts:

Goodwill 29,152 -
Other intangible assets (indefinite useful lives or not yet

available for use) 88,397 85,003
Explicit forecast period 2025-2034 2024-2033
Growth rate (used after explicit forecast period) 2.00% 2.00%
Discount rate (post-tax) 5.77% 6.75%

The financial forecast used for impairment testing purposes of CGU AAS is based off Schiphol
Group's ten year business plan. Based on the outcomes of the impairment test no impairment is
deemed necessary.

CGU Lelystad Airport ("LA")

The carrying amount of CGU LA's non-financial assets as at 31 December 2024 is 99 million euros
(2023: 97 million euros) and consists of intangible assets, assets used for operating activities, assets
under construction or development and investment property.

CGU LA may be subject to impairments if political decision making on its opening for commercial
traffic is negative.

Under the 2008 Alders Agreement, Lelystad Airport was designated as an overflow airport for
Amsterdam Airport Schiphol, specifically for non-mainport traffic, with a capacity of up to 45,000
commercial flight movements per year. The opening of Lelystad Airport has been postponed several
times since 2018. In its policy programme, the current government has pledged to provide clarity
in 2025 regarding the opening of Lelystad Airport for commercial traffic. The government requires
Lelystad Airport to fulfil two conditions: (1) It must obtain a nature permit and (2) a solution must
be found for the approach route near Lemelerveld. Lelystad Airport expects to obtain a nature
permit in early 2025 and as for the second condition, a proposal has already been developed, and in
December 2023 Air Traffic Control the Netherlands (LVNL) confirmed its feasibility to the Ministry of
Infrastructure and Water Management.

As outlined in current government policy, a decision on opening Lelystad Airport for commercial
traffic can be expected in 2025. On this basis, no impairment is deemed necessary based on the
current government decision to delay the opening.
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TGHC

For TGHC, a quantitative test was performed as at 31 December 2024, which proved the recoverable
amount to exceed the carrying amount of Schiphol Group's interest in TGHC. As a result, no
impairment is recorded. The following table provides an overview of the key assumptions used in
determining the value recoverable amount of TGHC:

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Explicit forecast period 2025-2045 2024-2044
Growth rate (used after explicit forecast period) 3.00% 3.00%
Discount rate (post-tax) 8.21% 8.01%

When comparing TGHC's current year performance with the business case used in the impairment
analysis at the previous year end, the performance in 2024 is slightly above expectations. The
business plan and forecasts include the revised strategy, an updated terminal expansion programme,
as well as new aeronautical and commercial forecasts. However, changes in the developments of the
airport can result in an adjustment of the assumptions used in the analysis, which might result in an
impairment of the investment. Management is reviewing the developments and possible impact on
the business case in a timely manner.

Since the interestin TGHC was acquired in 2019, the year before COVID-19 outbreak, the investment
has not gained a large amount of headroom between the recoverable amount and carrying

value since its acquisition. As a result, any future recoverable amount calculation, and potential
impairment trigger, remain sensitive towards developments in interest rates and corresponding
discount rates.

Taxes

When preparing the financial statements, Schiphol Group makes every effort to assess all relevant tax
risks and process up-to-date tax position details in the financial statements to the best of its ability.
Evolving insights, for example following final tax assessments for prior years and developments

in international tax legislation, can result in additional tax burdens or benefits, and new tax risks
may arise.

Inthe valuation of deferred tax assets, particularly those concerning differences between the values
of property, plant and equipment (including investment property) for reporting and tax purposes as
well as unutilised tax losses in the financial statements, assumptions are made regarding the extent
to which and the period within which such assets can be realised. This is done, for instance, on the
basis of business plans. In addition, when preparing the financial statements, assumptions are made
regarding temporary and permanent differences between the values for reporting and tax purposes.
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The actual outcome may deviate from the assumptions used to determine deferred tax positions, due
forinstance to diverging insights and changes in tax laws and regulations. See note 15 Income taxes
for a more detailed explanation.

The management programme for tax risks (also known as the ‘tax control framework’) is part of
Schiphol Group's overall risk management programme. This programme serves to identify tax risks
and monitor internal controls with the aim of mitigating the tax risks. Schiphol Group has also
developed and implemented a tax planning framework. Tax risk management is facilitated by the
central control department (Finance Operations) and is part of approved Management Board policy.
This policy is based on Schiphol Group’s aim to be a trustworthy taxpayer through the application of
professional tax compliance procedures.

Provisions

Schiphol Group uses estimates and assumptions when determining the likelihood that an obligation
as at the reporting date will lead to an outflow of resources. In addition to this, assumptions are
applicable to the estimated amount of outflow of resources. For example, Schiphol Group recorded
an environmental provision related to resolving soil contamination. For more detailed explanations,
refer to note 24 Provisions.

Claims and disputes

Schiphol Group s the subject of various claims and disputes, which are part of its business operations.
Group management assesses the claims and court cases instituted against it on the basis of facts
and seeks legal advice when required. Schiphol is also involved in disputes as a claimant. In both
cases this involves subjective elements and projected outcomes. However, it is not possible to obtain
certainty about the final outcome and any negotiations on claims and disputes. For a more detailed
explanation, see note 27 Commitments and contingencies.
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4. Segment information

An operating segment is a clearly identifiable part of a company that engages in business activities
with associated revenues, costs and operating results, and for which separate financial information
is available that is regularly reviewed by the Management Board in order to assess the performance
of the segment and make decisions about the resources to be allocated to it.

Schiphol Group identified fourteen operating segments, which have been combined into eight
segments for reporting purposes in view of the size and characteristics of the operating segments.
The eight segments for reporting purposes are grouped into three business areas: Aviation,
Schiphol Commercial and Alliances & Participations. Information relating to alliances specifically
associated with a particular business area is presented under the segments of that business area. The
information relating to other alliances is presented under the reporting segments of the Alliances &
Participations business area.

The Management Board reviews liabilities, financial income and expenses and income taxes at
group level rather than segment level. Transactions between the segments have been consistently
conducted atarm’s length over the years. Group overheads are allocated to the segments largely on
the basis of their relative share in the direct costs of Schiphol Group. The system of allocations and
settlements has been applied consistently over the past years.

Since Schiphol Group’s current activities are concentrated almost entirely in the Netherlands
(approximately 99% of consolidated revenue in 2024 (2023: 99%)), there is no geographical
segmentation. Revenue from one customer amounted to approximately 37% (2023: 36%) of
Schiphol Group's consolidated revenue.

Aviation

The Aviation business area operates at Amsterdam Airport Schiphol and provides services and
facilities to airlines, passengers and handling agents. It is subdivided into two segments: Aviation
and Security. Aviation generates most of its revenue from airport charges (charges related to aircraft
and passengers) and concession fees (paid by oil companies for the provision of aircraft refuelling
services). The source of revenue for Security consists of airport charges (security-related charges).

Schiphol Commercial

The activities of the Schiphol Commercial business area consist of the core of all commercial services,
such as consumer products, services and real estate activities. The major part of the activities is
located at and around Amsterdam Airport Schiphol. The activities of Schiphol Commercial are split
in the following segments: Concessions, Parking & Mobility, Commercial Real Estate, Terminal Real
Estate and Other.
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The segment Concessions consist of granting and managing concessions for shops, food

and beverages, and service outlets (Concessions segment, generating variable revenue from
concessions). Parking & Mobility Services is responsible for operating all car parks and generates
revenue from parking charges. The majority of parking revenue comes from passengers and visitors
to the airport directly (business to consumer), with a small part being generated online through
parking space being reserved upfront. The Commercial Real Estate segment develops, manages,
operates and invests in property at and around domestic and foreign airports. The majority of the
portfolio, comprising both airport buildings and commercial properties, is located at and around
Amsterdam Airport Schiphol. Sources of revenue include income from developing and leasing out
land and buildings. The segment also makes a major contribution to the Schiphol Group results with
other income from property (sales, fair value gains or losses on property, and granting land leases).
Terminal Real Estate manages and rents out the offices and business class lounges at Schiphol to third
parties. The Other segment include activities in advertisement and media space as well as premium
services to passengers. Except for Premium Services and Parking, all revenue originates from services
to other companies (business to business).

Alliances & Participations

The Alliances & Participations business area comprises the regional airports, international airports
and other activities. Airport charges, concessions and parking charges are the main sources of
revenue for the regional airports (Rotterdam The Hague, Eindhoven and Lelystad). The airports
abroad (Brisbane Airport Corporation Holdings Ltd and Tasmanian Gateway Holdings Corporation
Pty Ltd) and Maastricht Aachen Airport contribute to the group result through their results as
accounted for in the share in results of associates and joint ventures and through the interest
received on loans. The stake in JFKIAT Member LLC is recognised as a contract-related asset and
contributes to the group result through management fees that are recognised as part of other
revenue. The other activities mainly consist of Schiphol Telematics and Utilities. Schiphol Telematics
provides telecommunication services atand around Amsterdam Airport Schiphol. Utilities generates
revenue from the transmission of electricity and gas and from the supply of water.
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Information by business area for the year ended 31 December 2024:

Schiphol Alliances &
(in thousands of euros) Aviation Commercial Participations
Airport charges 1,304,973 - 101,745
Concessions 17,016 293,453 14,211
Rent and leases 401 228,758 6,469
Parking fees - 143,300 32,353
Other activities 72,277 51,983 137,358
Revenue 1,394,667 717,494 292,136
Other results from investment property - 162,550 2,278
Cost of outsourced work and other external costs -844,242 -304,487 -165,995
Employee benefit expenses -240,556 -65,428 -50,339
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment expenses -240,478 -76,114 -37,012
Operating result 69,391 434,016 41,068
Share in results of associates and joint ventures 1,559 1414 45,457
Total assets 4,971,264 3,827,918 1,165,382
Total non-current assets (excl. deferred tax) 4,147,112 3,188,447 971,556
Investments in and loans to associates and joint ventures 4,338 135,176 441,436

Capital expenditure 513,218 472,604 70,698

Subtotal

1,406,718
324,680
235,628
175,653
261,618

2,404,297

164,828

-1,314,724
-356,323
-353,604

544,474

48,430

9,964,564
8,307,115

580,950
1,056,520
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Eliminations

-37,529
-35,906
-3,440
-82,645
-159,520

160,010
-490

Total

1,406,718
287,151
199,722
172,213
178,973

2,244,777

164,828

-1,154,714
-356,813
-353,604

544,474

48,430

9,964,564
8,307,115

580,950
1,056,520
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Information by business area for the year ended 31 December 2023:

Schiphol Alliances &
(in thousands of euros) Aviation Commercial Participations
Airport charges 1,071,744 - 85,990
Concessions 15,438 176,265 13,281
Rent and leases 314 220,086 6,592
Parking fees - 123,000 30,085
Other activities 53,008 44,544 124,468
Revenue 1,140,504 563,894 260,416
Other results from investment property - -152,313 1,718
Cost of outsourced work and other external costs -816,203 -207,773 -149,785
Employee benefit expenses -200,184 -40,846 -49,404
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment expenses -237,114 -72,357 -34,676
Operating result -112,999 90,766 28,111
Share in results of associates and joint ventures 1,165 3,422 31,044
Total assets 4,694,950 3,404,825 1,169,975
Total non-current assets (excl. deferred tax) 3,753,137 2,709,489 935,301
Investments in and loans to associates and joint ventures 4,173 138,274 456,291

Capital expenditure 486,307 131,878 44,060

Subtotal

1,157,734
204,983
226,992
153,085
222,020

1,964,814

-150,596

-1,173,761
-290,434
-344,148

5,878

35,631

9,269,750
7,397,926
598,738
662,245
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Eliminations

-32,919
-2,665
-77,257
-112,842

112,698
143

Total

1,157,734
204,983
194,072
150,420
144,763

1,851,972

-150,596

-1,061,063
-290,290
-344,148

5,878

35,631

9,269,750
7,397,926
598,738
662,245
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Segment information for the Aviation business area:

(in thousands of euros)

Airport charges
Concessions

Rent and leases
Other activities

Revenue

Cost of outsourced work and other external costs
Employee benefit expenses

Depreciation, amortisation and
impairment expenses

Operating result

Share in results of associates and joint ventures

Total assets
Total non-current assets (excl. deferred tax)

Investments in and loans to associates and
joint ventures

Capital expenditure

Company
financial statements

2024

844,187
17,016
29
66,248
927,550

-476,348
-196,124

-196,529
58,549

1,559

4,412,652
3,680,751

4,338
460,553
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Aviation
2023

698,285
15,438
99
46,982
760,804

-448,585
-162,466

-189,781
-40,029

1,165

4,133,559
3,304,350

4,173
432,848

Other information

2024

460,786

302
6,029
467,117

367,894
-44,432

-43,949
10,842

558,612
466,361

52,665

Security
2023

373,459

215
6,026
379,700

-367,618
-37,718

-47,333
-72,970

561,391
448,787

53,459
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2024

1,304,973
17,016
401
72,277
1,394,667

-844,242
-240,556

-240,478
69,391

1,559

4,971,264
4,147,112

4,338
513,218

Total
2023

1,071,744
15,438
314
53,008
1,140,504

-816,203
-200,184

-237,114
-112,999

1,165

4,694,950
3,753,137

4,173
486,307

214



Consolidated Notes to the consolidated Company Notes to the company
Contents financial statements financial statements financial statements financial statements Other information

Segment information for the Schiphol Commercial business area:

Concessions Parking & Mobility Services Commercial Real Estate
(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Concessions 281,419 166,296 10,890 8,847 1,144 1,122
Rent and leases 17,545 17,589 579 218 147,336 143,901
Parking fees - - 136,774 116,571 6,526 6,429
Other activities 2,099 762 1,502 1,374 2,808 2,601
Revenue 301,063 184,647 149,745 127,010 157,814 154,053
Other results from investment property 109 - 87 - 162,223 -152,313
Cost of outsourced work and other
external costs -131,597 -40,779 -51,490 -46,771 -58,821 -60,459
Employee benefit expenses -26,778 -9,172 -10,800 9,111 -12,874 -9,852
Depreciation, amortisation and
impairment expenses -19,581 -17,787 -21,160 -19,902 -12,484 -10,611
Operating result 123,216 116,910 66,382 51,226 235,859 -79,183
Share in results of associates and joint
ventures -959 1,557 - - 2,373 1,865
Total assets 379,842 301,581 394,889 377,272 2,603,170 2,281,374
Total non-current assets (excl. deferred tax) 321,544 241,091 329,220 301,599 2,162,490 1,811,379
Investments in and loans to associates and
joint ventures 2,742 8,076 - - 132,434 130,198

Capital expenditure 61,792 33,113 41,448 35,306 332,213 25,058

Terminal Real Estate

2024

63,298

247
63,545

44

-41,529
-6,787

-19,327
-4,054

415,773
346,643

32,711

2023

58,378

196
58,574

-39,471
-5,522

-19,650
-6,070

410,566
328,214

35,180
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2024

45,327
45,327

87

-21,050
-8,189

-3,562
12,613

34,243
28,551

4,440

Other
2023

39,611
39,611

-20,293
-7,189

-4,407
7,883

34,033
27,206

3,221

2024

293,453
228,758
143,300

51,983
717,494

162,550

-304,487
-65,428

-76,114
434,016

1414

3,827,918
3,188,447

135,176
472,604

Total
2023

176,265
220,086
123,000
44,544
563,894

-152,313

-207,773
-40,846

-72,357
90,766

3422

3,404,825
2,709,489

138,274
131,878
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Segment information for the Alliances & Participations business area:

International airports Domestic airports Other activities Total
(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Airport charges - - 101,745 85,990 - - 101,745 85,990
Concessions - - 14,211 13,281 - - 14,211 13,281
Rent and leases - - 6,469 6,592 0 1 6,469 6,592
Parking fees - - 32,353 30,085 - - 32,353 30,085
Other activities 18,658 16,612 6,912 6,959 111,788 100,897 137,358 124,468
Revenue 18,658 16,612 161,690 142,906 111,788 100,898 292,136 260,416
Other results from investment property - - 2,278 1,718 - - 2,278 1,718
Cost of outsourced work and other
external costs -1,748 -1,578 -88,596 -83,768 -75,651 -64,439 -165,995 -149,785
Employee benefit expenses -4,383 -4,191 -35,044 -30,106 -10,912 -15,107 -50,339 -49,404
Depreciation, amortisation and
impairment expenses -1,423 -1,424 -20,702 -21,634 -14,887 -11,618 -37,012 -34,676
Operating result 11,104 9,419 19,626 9,117 10,338 9,575 41,068 28,111
Share in results of associates and joint
ventures 38,265 27,268 - - 7,192 3,776 45,457 31,044
Total assets 559,559 607,032 395,978 400,924 209,845 162,020 1,165,382 1,169,975
Total non-current assets (excl. deferred tax) 466,485 485,273 330,113 320,506 174,958 129,522 971,556 935,301
Investments in and loans to associates and
joint ventures 420,612 330,293 - - 20,824 12,857 441,436 343,150

Capital expenditure 2,234 3,417 25,724 15,903 42,740 24,740 70,698 44,060
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5. Revenue

Schiphol Group's revenue is primarily driven by the number of passengers and ATMs, which
continued to recover from the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. This had a positive impact on
revenue recognised on airport charges, spend per arriving/departing passenger resulting in higher
concession revenues and parking fees.

Schiphol Group's revenue consist of:

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Airport charges 1,406,718 1,157,734
Parking fees 172,213 150,420
Other activities 178,973 144,762
Revenue from contracts with customers 1,757,904 1,452,916
Concessions 287,151 204,984
Rents and leases 199,722 194,073
Other revenue 486,873 399,057
Total revenue 2,244,777 1,851,973

5.1. Revenue from contracts with customers

Airport charges

Revenue from airport charges increased compared to 2023 as a result of increased passenger
numbers and ATMs and an increase of 14.8% of the Amsterdam Airport Schiphol airport charges as
of 1 April 2024. The airport charges consist of the following:

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Passenger service charges 603,777 493,440
Security service charges 501,138 405,356
Aircraft-related fees 266,407 225,114
Aircraft parking fees 7,261 7,469
Airline nitrogen fees 28,135 26,355
Total airport charges 1,406,718 1,157,734

Notes to the company
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Rate regulation of activities at Amsterdam Airport Schiphol

Asof 1 April 2024 the airport charges increased on average with 14.8% instead of the consulted 12%
as a result of incorporating the settlement over 2022.

Airport charges for the activities at Amsterdam Airport Schiphol (the Aviation business) are
regulated. Under the Aviation Act, Royal Schiphol Group N.V. settle surplus or deficits from specified
revenues and expenses with the industry. In accordance with EU-IFRS, surpluses and deficits, eligible
for settlement in future airport charge rates, are not recognised as assets and liabilities in the
statement of financial position.

The following table provides an overview of surpluses and deficits per financial year as well as the
timing of the expected settlement in future airport charge rates.

Before

(in millions of euros) Total N/A 2023 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
2019 -19.0 - -12.7 -6.3 - - - -
2020 -528.5 -45.6 509 -184.3 -3495 - - -
2021 -519.7 - - 33.6 305 -271.6 -312.2 -
2022 -114.3 -21.7 - - -29.9 - -62.7 -
2023 -106.1 - - - - - -35.3 -70.8
Interest effect -3.2 - - - - 3.1 -24 -3.9

-67.3 38.2 -157.0 -348.9 -268.5 -412.6 -74.7

Part of the settlements over fiscal year 2023 are postponed, as further explained below. In May 2024
the settlement over 2023 was set, resulting in a receivable from the sector of 106 million euros. The
settlement is divided into 3 parts: a traffic and transport related part of 101 million euros receivable,
a non traffic and transport related part of 3 million euros owed to the sector and an interest part of
EUR 8 million receivable from the sector.
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During the period March 2024 -September 2024, Schiphol conducted anintensive (pre) consultation
process with airlines regarding the charges and operational conditions for the new three-year period
2025-2027.In October 2024, Schiphol set the charges for this new period. Part of the formal charge
setting was a partial postponement of the original settlement spread to smoothen the charge
development in favour of airlines:

1. Settlement 2021: 44.0 million euros shift from 2025 to 2026
2. Settlement 2022: 30.9 million euros shift from 2025 to 2026
3. Settlement 2023: 34.4 million euros shift from 2025 to 2027

The amount to be settled for 2024 is expected to be a deficit ranging between 66 million euros and
76 million euros. The final settlement will be set, later this year, as part of the Regulatory Accounts
process of 2024. Thereafter, the settlement will be included in the consultation of the airport charges
for 2026 and beyond.

The total formal charge setting for the period 2025-2027 results in an average increase of 41.4% as
of April 2025, an average increase of 7.3% as of April 2026 and an average decrease of 12.5% as of
April2027.In November 2024, a number of airlines and representative organisations have submitted
complaints to the regulator (Dutch Authority for Consumers and Markets) in response to Schiphol’s
setting of airport charges 2025-2027.

The regulator is in the process of assessing the complaints and is expected to take a final decision
before 1 April 2025. See also paragraph financial performance in the introduction section of this
Annual Report.

Rate regulation of other domestic airports
The rates charged for activities at Eindhoven Airport are regulated since 1 April 2019. Contrary to

Amsterdam Airport Schiphol, Eindhoven Airport is not required to settle surpluses and deficits with
the industry. No regulatory procedures apply to Rotterdam The Hague Airport and Lelystad Airport.

Notes to the company
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Parking fees
Revenue from parking fees consists of the following:

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Public parking fees 112,433 95,125
Business parking fees 26,821 25,240
Parking fees at Amsterdam Airport Schiphol 139,254 120,365
Parking fees at other locations 32,959 30,055
Total parking fees 172,213 150,420

Revenue from parking fees at other locations relates to parking at Schiphol Group's other domestic
airports, which are included in the Domestic Airports segment within the Alliances & Participations
business area.

Other activities
Revenue from other activities consists of the following:

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Advertising 18,588 15,678
Telecommunication services 18,076 16,133
JFK IAT related fees 12,173 11,014
Electricity, gas and water 11,517 8,888
Services and activities on behalf of third parties 6,008 5,223
Hotel activities 4,027 4,014
Premium services 27,867 23,998
Persons reduced mobility 57,625 38,690
Other operating income 23,092 21,124
Total other activities 178,973 144,762
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5.2. Other revenues

Schiphol Group's other revenues primarily consist of income generated from leasing out Investment
Property, leasing out of portions of real estate classified as Asset used for own operating activities

and lease and concession income from commercial activities executed by third parties on Schiphol

Group's premises.

Concessions
Concession income consist of the following:

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Shops Retail Airside 176,317 102,073
Food and beverage 50,604 46,683
Oil companies 15,749 14,052
Shops Plaza 5,290 4,795
Other 39,191 37,381
Total concessions 287,151 204,984

In 2024 Schiphol Group's sub reporting segment Concessions, which is part of the Schiphol
Commercial reporting segment, had 110 effective concession contracts (2023: 101) for a range
of commercial activities at Amsterdam Airport Schiphol.

The acquisition of Kappé, effective 1 January 2024, resulted in an increase of revenue from Shops
Retail Airside. Refer to note 10 Business combinations for further information.

Concession revenue received from Schiphol Airport Retail B.V. (a joint venture of Schiphol Group) is
27.1 million euros (2023: 26.9 million euros).

Rent and leases

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Investment property: buildings 71,790 67,885
Properties in assets used for operating activities 61,476 62,232
Service charges 32,531 31,317
Investment property: land 33,925 32,639
Total rent and leases 199,722 194,073

Notes to the company
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Average occupancy in the Commercial Real Estate segment amounted to 94.7% in 2024 (2023:
94.3%). The following table provides an overview of the future undiscounted lease payments
(excluding payments conditional on factors other than the passing of time, e.g. degree of use in
respect of service costs and price indices) for lease contracts with a fixed ending date to be received
by Schiphol Group under operating leases as at 31 December:

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Within 1 year 125,481 119,601
Between 1 and 2 years 94,165 107,465
Between 2 and 3 years 74,466 77,888
Between 3 and 4 years 61,247 64,067
Between 4 and 5 years 51,378 52,178
More than 5 years 119,790 143,848
Total 526,527 565,047

The annual future undiscounted lease payments of current contracts without a fixed end date as at
31 December 2024 is 14.4 million euros (2023: 14.1 million euros).

Property management expenses divided into occupied and unoccupied buildings can be broken
down as follows:

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Occupied buildings 86,526 81,087
Unoccupied buildings 5,208 4,901
Total property management expenses 91,734 85,988

If buildings are partially leased, the property management expenses have been apportioned based
on floor area.
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6. Other results from investment property

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Gain/ (loss) on disposal of land 436 -
Result on sale of investment property 436 -
Gain/ (loss) on changes in fair value of buildings 135,093 -131,812
Gain/ (loss) on changes in fair value of land 26,227 -13,487
Gain/ (loss) on changes in fair value of assets

under construction 3,072 -5,296
Total fair value gains and losses 164,392 -150,595
Total other results from investment property 164,828 -150,595

The assumptions used in determining the fair value of investment property are disclosed in note 14
Investment property.

The market conditions for investment property were still unfavourable in 2024, however first signs of
recovery were visible, such as the lowering of the ECB interest rates as of June. The yield gap remains
small and is only expected to recover to a healthy level after further lowering of the interest rates
on the capital markets. Also, the investment volume was recovering, but mainly in mid cap market.
Larger transactions were still falling behind and less investments are allocated to office investments
in the European market.

Market rents did increase, especially in the freight & logistics portfolio during the first half year.
Polarisation in the office markets increased the market rent for prime rent properties and locations,
while market rents for other office segments are under pressure and vacancy rates in these

areas increased.

Land portfolios, which generally have a less volatile character, benefit from the market stabilisation
and only reported a minor value adjustment.
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7. Cost of outsourced work and other external costs

Cost of outsourced work and other external costs comprise of the following:

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Security 302,899 287,602
Subcontracted activities 154,156 143,774
Maintenance 182,615 166,157
Hired temporary staff 88,088 87,790
Cleaning 51,338 44,923
Advisory and audit fees 36,963 45,408
Insurance and government levies 32,201 31,471
Energy and water 43,212 36,313
Costs related to investments 23,145 28,538
Commercial expenses 20,931 20,960
Cost of goods sold 46,643 -
Outsourced work (IT, HR related and other) 98,350 104,515
Mobility cost 29,607 26,647
Other expenses (such as general expenses, rents and leasing) 44,566 36,965
Total cost of outsourced work and other external costs 1,154,714 1,061,063

In general, the cost increased as a result of higher passenger numbers and ATMs, and as a result of
the acquisition of Kappé, as further disclosed in note 10 Business combinations.

Subcontracted activities

This category comprises of a broad range of outsourced activities related to airport processes, such as
the outsourcing of bus transport services, the services to passengers with reduced mobility and the
lost and found process.
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Auditor's fees

The auditor’s fees are included in the line Advisory and audit fees and concern activities carried out
for Schiphol Group and its consolidated subsidiaries by the audit firm as referred to in Section 1(1)
of the Dutch Audit Firms Supervision Act and represent the fees charged by the entire network of

which the audit firm is part. The auditor's fees incurred in the years ended 31 December 2024 and

2023 amount to the following:

(in thousands of euros) EY KPMG Total 2024
Audit of the financial statements 1,470 443 1,913
Other assurance services 746 97 843
Other non-audit services - 56 56
Total auditor's fees 2,216 596 2,812
(in thousands of euros) EY KPMG Total 2023
Audit of the financial statements - 1,027 1,027
Other assurance services - 640 640
Total auditor's fees - 1,667 1,667

The audit fees included relate to the consolidated financial statements of Schiphol Group and the
Regulatory Accounts. Fees with respect to other assurance services relate to the assurance provided
to the sustainability statement with respect to CSRD as of 2024, certain agreed upon procedures and
EMTN prospectuses.

EY Accountants B.V. is appointed as Schiphol Group's external auditor as of the financial year
2024. The total fees incurred from EY Accountants B.V. during the financial year amount to
2.2 million euros.

Up through 2023, KPMG Accountants N.V. was Schiphol Group’s external auditor. The fees incurred
from KPMG Accountants N.V.in 2023 amounted to 1.7 million euros. In addition, fees were incurred
in 2024 for an amount of 0.6 million euros with respect to the completion of the audit procedures
of the consolidated financial statements 2023 and the Regulatory Accounts 2023.
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8. Employee benefit expenses

The employee benefit expenses consist of the following:

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Short-term employee benefits 277,546 230,585
Post-retirement benefits 49,323 35,710
Other long-term employee benefits 5,041 3,930
Termination and unemployment benefits 2,933 1,967
Other staff costs 21,970 18,098
Total employee benefits 356,813 290,290

The short-term, post-retirement and other long-term employee benefits are further specified below.
Other staff costs include training costs and travel expenses.

Information on the remuneration of Supervisory and Management Board members as required
under Section 2:383c of the Dutch Civil Code, as well as information on the remuneration for other

key management personnel, is included in note 29.3 Key management personnel remuneration.

The average number of employees at Royal Schiphol Group N.V. and its subsidiaries on a full-time
equivalent basis was 3,535 for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: 2,820).

Short-term employee benefits
The short-term employee benefits consist of the following:

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Salaries 295,201 231,986
Social charges 35,348 27,354
Internal hours capitalised -53,003 -28,755
Total short-term employee benefits 277,546 230,585

The internal hours capitalised relate to short-term employee benefits which are capitalised as part
of the cost of an asset.
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Post-retirement benefits 9. Depreciation, amortisation and impairment expenses
The post-retirement benefits consist of the following:
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment expenses consist of the following:

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Pension charges (defined contribution plans) 47,807 34,784
Early retirement benefits 1,516 926  Contract-related assets 1,404 1,409
Total post-retirement benefits 49,323 35,710  ICT development 16,259 14,213
Software licences 9,187 7,094
The methodology for determining the cost of post-retirement benefits, other long-term employee  Amortisation of intangible assets 26,850 22,716
benefits and termination and unemployment benefits are explained in more detail in note 23
Employee benefits. .
Runways, taxiways and aprons 44,389 36,041
Other long-term employee benefits Paved areas and roads 30,071 24,443
The other long-term employee benefits consist of the following: Buildings 67,316 68,780
Installations 121,736 123,105
(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023 Other assets 55,842 51,824
Jubilee benefits 1,496 581 Depreciation of assets used for operating activities 319,354 304,193
Other employee benefits 3,545 3,349 -
Total other long-term employee benefits 5,041 3,930 Results on disposals of assets 10,922 10,752
(Reversal of) impairments on financial assets -3,522 635
Impairments on non-financial assets - 5,851
Total depreciation, amortisation and impairments 353,604 344,147

Of the results on disposals of assets, a loss of 9.5 million euros (2023: 9.6 million euros) relates to
write-offs resulting from the triennial asset inventory process executed over the years 2023 through
2025.1n 2025, the current cycle will be completed, which may result in additional immaterial losses.
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10. Business combinations

Schiphol Group acquired 100% of the outstanding share capital in Kappé Nederland B.V. (including
its subsidiaries) and Kappé Logistics B.V. (hereafter together referred to as “Kappé”). Kappé operates
aretail concession for perfumes, cosmetics, sunglasses and pharmacy products in a number of shops
at Amsterdam Airport Schiphol.

The transaction closed as of 18 January 2024, which is the acquisition date for accounting purposes.
Kappé is consolidated from 1 January 2024 (the effective date of the transaction), resulting in an
incremental increase of consolidated revenue of EUR 73.9 million, which is fully included in the
concessions line inthe segmentinformation. Schiphol Group completed the purchase accounting for
this business combination, of which the outcome is:

Purchase
(in thousands of euros) price allocation
Gross consideration transferred 50,774
Less: cash acquired -16,601
Consideration transferred, net of cash acquired 34,173
Less: fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, being:
Intangible assets 352
Assets used for operating activities 7,309
Inventories 7,993
Trade and other receivables 1,501
Trade and other payables -12,134
Total fair value: 5,021
Goodwill recorded from the business combination 29,152

Schiphol Groupincurred 0.7 million of costs in connection to the acquisition of Kappé, which are fully
recorded in the statement of income and presented in the line 'Cost of outsourced work and other
external costs'.

Schiphol Group will, as announced on 16 December 2024, enter into a new cooperation with
Lagardeére Travel Retail ( "LTR") in May 2025 for the operation of core retail category concessions
currently operated by Kappé and Schiphol Airport Retail B.V. ("SAR"). In connection to this
cooperation, LTR will obtain an (indirect) majority interest in Kappé and SAR and enter into new
long-term lease and concession agreements.
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11. Intangible assets

(in thousands of euros)

Carrying amount as at 1 January 2023

Additions

Completions

Amortisation

Impairment

Reclassification

Disposals

Exchange differences

Other

Total movements in the year

Analysis as at 31 December 2023

Cost

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2023

Additions
Completions
Acquisitions
Amortisation
Reclassification
Disposals

Exchange differences

Total movements in the year

Analysis as at 31 December 2024

Cost

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2024

Company
financial statements

Goodwill

29,152

29,152

29,152

Notes to the company

Contract-related
assets

29,865

-874

-2,283

39,588
-12,006
27,582

41,347
-13,410
27,937

financial statements

ICT development

46,579

97,888
-57,177
40,711

43,616
-16,259
-11,487

15,870

130,017
-73,436
56,581

Other information

Software licences

2,207

7,847
-7,094

230
-160

480
1,303

37,885
-34,375
3,510

294
31,381
352
-9,187
11,487

34,327

81,399
-43,562
37,837

Software
under development

45,148

52,217
-3,310

-195
-14,492

-46
34,174

79,321

79,321

59,855
-55,458

286
-1,289

3,394

82,715

82,715

Nitrogen rights

7.461

892

892

8,353

8,353

400

675

1,075

9,428

9,428
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Total

131,259

53,109
13,334
-22,716
-195
-14,262
-612
-874
434
28,218

263,035
-103,558
159,477

60,549
19,539
30,179
-26,850
286
-1,289
1,759

84,173

374,058

-130,408
243,650
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Goodwill

The goodwill recognised in the year results from the acquisition of Kappé, refer to note 10 Business
combinations for further information. The goodwill is fully allocated to CGU Amsterdam Airport
Schiphol, which is tested annually for impairment.

Contract-related assets

The contract-related asset relates to Schiphol Groups's interest in JFKIAT Member LLC acquired
upon the acquisition of activities from third parties. The activities comprise the service concession
arrangement between the Port Authority of New York and New Jersey (hereafter 'Port Authority')
and JFKIAT LLC (a subsidiary of JFKIAT Member LLC). Under the arrangement, JFKIAT LLC provides
airport terminal-, and retail management services in terminal 4 at JFK International Airport.

As a result of the contractual provisions in the arrangement, Schiphol Group concluded that it
does not have control over these activities and as a consequence, the interest in JEKIAT LLC is not
consolidated. Schiphol Group also concluded that, based on the contractual arrangements, the
interest does not qualify for application of the equity accounting method and therefore recorded the
cost to obtain the interest as intangible asset, which is amortised on straight-line basis over the term
of the arrangement. The remaining term of the arrangement is 18.5 years as at 31 December 2024.

Income realised under the arrangement is for the most part fixed and recognised as revenue.
Schiphol Group has no obligation to provide additional contributions. No indication of impairment
was identified for the contract-related assets as Schiphol Group continued to receive the agreed fee
during the year.

ICT development and software licenses
The category ICT development comprises the capitalised internally developed ICT applications, while
software licences comprise the externally acquired ICT applications.

Nitrogen rights

Schiphol Group holds nitrogen rights to compensate for nitrogen emissions from its activities. The
nitrogen rights are initially measured at cost and have an indefinite useful life as the rights provide
the holder with a certain capacity rather than a credit which is consumed. The nitrogen rights are
tested annually for impairment, as part of the CGU to which they relate.

Other information

Royal Schiphol Group - 2024 Annual Report
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12. Assets used for operating activities

(in thousands of euros)

Carrying amount as at 1 January 2023

Capital expenditure
Completions
Depreciation
Disposals

Other
Reclassification

Total movements in the year

Analysis as at 31 December 2023
Cost
Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2023

Capital expenditure
Completions
Depreciation
Acquisitions
Disposals

Other
Reclassification

Total movements in the year

Analysis as at 31 December 2024
Cost
Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2024

Notes to the company
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Runways, taxiways and aprons

512,935

39,438

1,138,990
-586,615
552,373

56,418
-44,389

-6,436

5,593

1,179,579
-621,613
557,966

Other information

Paved areas, roads etc.

665,570

28,737
-24,443
-653
-3,133
1,298
1,806

996,095
-328,719
667,376

69,245
-30,071
-925
2,028
738
41,015

1,070,006
-361,615
708,391

Buildings

1,093,599

30,653
-68,780
-1

1,334
-1,468
-38,262

2,090,528
-1,035,190
1,055,337

110,218
-67,316
6,085
-259

-1
18,719
67,446

2,225,290
-1,102,507
1,122,783
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Installations

954,330

106,938
-123,105
-6,063
-245

598
-21,877

2,743,264
-1,810,812
932,453

192,287
-121,736
-1,13
19

-261
69,196

2,918,933
-1,917,284
1,001,649

Other assets

217,079

116
49,919
-51,824
-927
-230
-2,558
-5,504

656,011
-444,436
211,575

291
67,508
-55,842
1,224
-899
-2,108
6,592
16,766

692,481
-464,140
228,341

Total

3,443,513

116
294,391
-304,193
-10,216
-2,275
-2,223
-24,399

7,624,888
-4,205,774
3,419,114

291
495,676
-319,354
7,309
-9,632
-62
25,788
200,016

8,086,289
-4,467,160
3,619,130

226



Consolidated

Contents financial statements

Notes to the consolidated
financial statements

Company

financial statements

Notes to the company
financial statements

Part of the assets used for operating activities as presented in the movement schedules relates to

right-of-use assets. The movement in right-of-use assets was as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Carrying amount as at 1 January 2023

Additions
Depreciation
Derecognition

Total movements in the year

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2023
Additions

Depreciation

Derecognition

Total movements in the year

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2024

Buildings

1,791

-248

-248

1,543

302
-234

68

1,611

Other assets

12,958

5,754
-6,102
74
-422

12,536
12,718
-8,108

-44

4,566

17,102

Total

14,749

5,754
-6,350
-74
-670

14,079
13,020
-8,342

-44

4,634

18,713

Other information

13. Assets under construction or development

(in thousands of euros)

Carrying amount as at 1 January 2023

Capital expenditure
Capitalised borrowing cost
Completed assets
Impairment
Reclassification

Other

Total movements in the year
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2023

Capital expenditure
Capitalised borrowing cost
Completed assets
Reclassification

Total movements in the year

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2024

Royal Schiphol Group - 2024 Annual Report

Total

1,305,383

577,105
9,985
-301,436
-3,306
14,492
533
297,373

1,602,756

831,652
20,537
-502,217
-6,869
343,103

1,945,859

The capitalisation of borrowing cost is based on a percentage rate of 1.72% (2023: 1.06%).
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14. Investment proper‘ty All building and land properties are measured at fair value. The fair value is based on the
market value, being the estimated amount for which investment property can be traded on the
Assets under valuation date between a buyer and a seller willing to do business in an objective, arm's length
(in thousands of euros) Buildings Land  construction Total  transaction. The calculation of the cash flows, which is a factor in determining the fair value at which

investment property is stated on the statement of financial position, takes into account the lease

Carrying amount as at 1 January 2023 1,124,118 409,449 166,139 1,699,706 incentives granted.

Capital expenditure 672 - 46,692 47,364  Asat31 December 2024, 100% (2023: 100%) of the buildings and 9% (2023: 17%) of the land is
Completed assets 10,625 3,770 14,929 -534  appraised by independent external appraisers, the remainder of the land portfolio is measured at
Fair value gains and losses 131,812 13,487 5,296 -150,595 fair value by using internal valuation models with reference to externally validated input variables.
- All investment property classifies as a level 3 valuation. The Dutch Register of Real Estate Valuers
Impairments - - -2,565 -2,565 . . . . .
(Nederlands Register Vastgoed Taxateurs (NRVT)), established in October 2015, is tasked with
Reclassification 2,264 5187 5458 1,993 safeguarding and enhancing the quality of appraisers. The general conduct and professional rules
Divestments -158 - - -158  and regulations of the NRVT are the new market standard appraisers have to comply with. That
Other 2,953 -1,606 1,980 3,327 standard is based on IFRS and international valuation guidelines. All external appraisers appointed
Total movements in the year -115.456 -6,136 20424 -101.168 Pv Schiphol Group are NRVT members. The valuation method for each category of investment

property is described in more detail below.

Carrying amount as at

Buildings

31 December 2023 1,008,662 403,313 186,563 1,598,538 The fair?/alue of buildings classified as investment property is determined by applying a net initial
yield (NIY) method. The NIY method uses a net market rent which is capitalised with an NIY and

Capital expenditure 1,500 - 61,112 62,612  adjusted for all elements that differ from the market assumptions. The NIY is determined on the

Completed assets 200,608 - -200,522 86  basisof comparable markettransactions supplemented with market and object-specific knowledge.

Fair value gains and losses 135,003 26,227 3,072 164,392 Deviating assumptions include contractual rent, vacancy information, deferred maintenance and
rent incentives.

Acquisitions 83,862 - - 83,862

Reclassifications from / (to) assets held

for sale 5,286 6,267 - 11,553

Reclassification -19,195 -10,364 10,363 -19,196

Total movements in the year 407,154 22,130 -125,975 303,309

Carrying amount as at
31 December 2024 1,415,816 425,443 60,588 1,901,847

Measured at
Cost model - - 48,116 48,116
Fair value model 1,415,816 425,443 12,472 1,853,731
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The key metrics for each significant portfolio of buildings are summarised as follows: The key metrics for each significant portfolio of land positions are summarised as follows:
Fair value Average market rent Average net initial yield Fair value Minimum land value Gross initial yield
(in millions of euros) (euro per square meter) (%) (in millions of euros)  (euro per square meter) (%)
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Schiphol Business District Schiphol Business District 53.0 76.7
Offices 544.9 429.7 295 287 7.0% 6.7% Offices 200 100 6.3%-6.5% 6.0%-6.3%
Other 100-200 200 5.2%-7.0% 5.2%-6.8%
Aviation Campus
Offices 129.1 74.6 179 165 6.8% 7.5%  Aviation Campus 190.9 173.3
Offices 200 200 7.0% 7.0%
Cargo World Other 100 - 200 200 5.2%-7.0% 5.2%-7.0%
Business premises 660.7 405.2 129 116 5.1% 5.4%
Cargo World 58.5 57.8
Rotterdam The Hague Airport Business premises 200 200 5.0% -5.2% 5.2%
Offices 34.6 325 164 163 8.1% 6.8% Other 200 200 7.0%-7.8% 7.0%-7.8%
Business premises 15.3 13.9 100 92 6.1% 5.9%
Rotterdam The
In addition to the above, the inflation rate is also key metric, which is expected to range between Hague Airport 21.8 18.6
1.71% and 2.17% (2023: between 2.00% and 2.22%). Offices 200 200 7.5% 7.5%
Business premises 200 200 5.2% 5.2%
The estimated fair value will increase (decrease) to the extent that the expected market rent growth ~ Other 100 - 200 200 5.2%-7.5% 5.2%-7.5%
is higher (lower), the periods of vacancy are shorter (longer), the occupancy rate is higher (lower), the
rent holidays are shorter (longer) and the NIY is lower (higher) than assumed. An average increase ~ Other Schiphol locations 83.7 68.7
of 10% inthe NIY on investment property reduce the fair value by approximately 144.7 millioneuros ~ Offices 200 200 7.8% 7.8%
(2023:120.7 million euros). A 10% decrease in the NIY would increase the fair value by approximately ~ Business premises 200 200 5.5% 5.5%
167.7 million euros (2023: 146.3 million euros). Other 100 - 200 200 6.5%-7.8% 6.5%-7.8%
Land Other significant assumptions used in determining the fair value of land positions classified as
For land positions that generate revenue through ground rent, the valuation technique used investment property are:
is the DCF method. The estimated net cash flows are discounted with a risk-adjusted rate plus
risk surcharges. 2024 2023
Land positions that are leased out for long periods and whose instalments are prepaid are measured  Inflation rate 2.00% - 2.90% 2.00% - 3.90%
at the prepaid instalment minus an annual redemption. The annual redemption is equal to the total Discount rate 5.75% - 8.25% 5.75% - 8.25%

instalment divided by the lease period plus the discounted value of the estimated instalment for the
next lease period.
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Investment property under construction 15. Income taxes

Assets under construction for the development of investment properties are measured at fair value

if the fair value can be measured reliably. The investment property under construction includes This note provides information on all items in the consolidated financial statements related to

land positions held for future investment property development or land with undetermined future  income tax.
use (operational or commercial development). Since the development plans are subject to annual
changes, they are inadequate to determine the fair value on a continuing basis. For thisreason, these ~ 15.1. Income tax in the statement of income

land positions are measured in accordance with the cost model. No significant impairments were The major components of income tax expense recorded in the statement of income for the years
required for 2024 (2023: 2.6 million euros). ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are:
(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023

Current income tax

Income tax current year 51,017 17,588
Income tax for prior years 1,357 -3,707
Total current income tax 52,374 13,881

Deferred income tax

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 90,699 -10,868
Deferred tax for prior years 5,152 -
Recognition of unutilised tax losses - 5,860
Total deferred income tax 95,851 -5,008

Total income tax 148,225 8,873
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Reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by Schiphol Group's domestic tax
rate for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023:

(in thousands of euros)

Result before tax

Income tax calculated at the domestic
tax rate

Share in results of associates and
joint ventures

Share in results of associates in
limited partnerships that are not
independently taxable

Different tax rate for foreign
subsidiaries / associates

Tax results previous years

Other (includes non deductible expenses)
Dividend withholding taxes

Outside base differences

Income tax expense in income
statement (effective)

2024

566,389

146,128

-10,448

744

9290
6,509
3,831
1,271

-800

148,225

25.8%

-1.8%

0.1%

0.2%
1.1%
0.7%
0.2%
-0.1%

26.2%

2023

30,931

7,980

-5,863

470

545

3,707
2,036

8,873

25.8%

-19.0%

1.5%

1.8%
12.0%
6.6%
0.0%
0.0%

28.7%

There were no changes in the domestic nominal corporate income tax rate in 2024. The application

of the participation exemption to the results of associates decreases the effective tax rate.

As a result of finalising tax filings for the years up to and including 2023, the effects on the estimated
positions for the prior year financial statements were recorded in 2024. As a consequence, the tax
result of previous years increased the effective tax rate.

Other information
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15.2. Income tax in other comprehensive income
The major components of income tax recorded in other comprehensive income for the year ended

31 December 2024 are:

(in thousands of euros)

Exchange differences on foreign operations

Fair value movement EUR/JPY cross-
currency swap

Recycling to statement of income (offset FX-
result on JPY bond)

Recycling cash flow hedges to statement
of income

Share in other comprehensive income of
associates and joint ventures

Actuarial gains/losses
Total

Before tax

-9,282

-12,966

5,570

520

1,944
-2,138
-16,351

Income tax

3,345

-1,437

-59

552
2,401

After tax

-9,282

-9,621

4,133

461

1,944
-1,586
-13,951

The major components of income tax recorded in other comprehensive income for the year ended

31 December 2023 are:

(in thousands of euros)

Exchange differences on foreign operations

Fair value movement EUR/JPY cross-
currency swap

Recycling to statement of income (offset FX-
result on JPY bond)

Recycling cash flow hedges to statement
of income

Other movements

Share in other comprehensive income of
associates and joint ventures

Actuarial gains/losses
Total

Before tax

-11,425

-25,292

14,004

8,294

-4,230
-4,088
-22,737

Income tax

6,525

-3,613

-2,065
-4,775

-3,928

After tax

-11,425

-18,767

10,391

6,229
-4,775

-4,230
-4,088
-26,665
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15.3. Deferred income tax balances
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year were as follows:

Assets used for Assets under Derivative Contract-
operating construction Investment financial Employee related Non-deductible Unutilised Outside

(in thousands of euros) activities or development property instruments benefits assets interest tax loss base differences Total
Carrying amount as at
1 January 2023 168,156 55,600 -120,874 -2,256 3,509 -12,062 41,336 182,448 - 315,856
Deferred tax recognised in the
statement of income -11,532 - 39,235 329 -561 -561 -16,041 -5,860 - 5,008
Deferred tax recognised in other
comprehensive income - - - -3,928 - - - - - -3,928
Reclassifications -87,432 -55,600 158,224 12,097 - -313 1,197 -28,173 - -
Other movements - - - -4,767 - -369 - - -5,136
Total movements in the year -98,964 -55,600 197,459 3,731 -561 -1,243 -14,844 -34,033 - -4,056
Carrying amount as at
31 December 2023 69,192 - 76,584 1,475 2,948 -13,306 26,492 148,415 - 311,800
Deferred tax recognised in the
statement of income 2,350 - -38,159 -753 1,610 -388 -21,515 -34,673 829 -90,699
Deferred tax recognised in the
statement of income for prior years 1,463 - 115 1,293 -158 10,854 7,921 -21,602 -5,038 -5,152
Deferred tax recognised in other
comprehensive income - - - 2,213 291 - - - - 2,504
Other movements - - - - - -152 - - - -152
Total movements in the year 3,813 - -38,044 2,753 1,743 10,314 -13,594 -56,275 -4,209 -93,499

Carrying amount as at
31 December 2024 73,005 - 38,540 4,228 4,691 -2,992 12,898 92,140 -4,209 218,301



Notes to the consolidated
financial statements

Consolidated
financial statements

Company

Contents financial statements financial statements

The deferred tax balances are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Deferred tax assets 225,534 325,162
Deferred tax liabilities -7,233 -13,362
Total deferred tax 218,301 311,800

Schiphol Group expects that sufficient taxable profits will be available in the foreseeable future to
fully utilise the tax losses carried forward and to be able to fully deduct the non-deductible interest
from previous years.

No deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses carried forward by Cargonaut Holding B.V.
and its subsidiaries from the period before these entities were included in Schiphol Group's Dutch

fiscal unity for corporate income taxes, for an amount of 3.8 million euros as at 31 December 2024
(2023: 3.8 million euros). These unused tax losses will not expire, based on current Dutch corporate
income tax legislation.

A deferred tax liability is recorded for the tax consequences of a potential distribution of reserves,
so called outside base differences. This deferred tax liability relates to Schiphol Group's investment
in BACH.

15.4. Current income tax balances
Current income tax balances as at the reporting date consist of the following:

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Income tax receivable

Foreign operations 589 755
Total 589 755
Income tax liability

Dutch fiscal unity -36,243 -506
Dutch subsidiaries outside the fiscal unity -219 -418
Foreign operations -295 -
Total -36,757 -924
Total current income tax balances -36,168 -169

Notes to the company
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The income tax liability is calculated on profit for fiscal purposes, allowing for permanent differences
between the profit as calculated for reporting purposes and for tax purposes. The income tax liability
on fair value gains and losses which are not processed immediately in the income tax return is
recognised in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Final tax assessments have been imposed and settled
for the tax years up to and including 202 1. Tax filings have been submitted up to and including 2023.
The foreign income tax payable relates to local US and Australian taxes.

15.5. OECD Pillar Two model rules

The group is within the scope of the OECD Pillar Two model rules. Pillar Two legislation was enacted
in the Netherlands, the jurisdiction in which the company is incorporated, and will come into effect
from 1 January 2024. The group applies the exception to recognising and disclosing information
about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to Pillar Two income taxes, as provided in the
amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes issued in May 2023.

Under the legislation, the group is liable to pay a top-up tax for the difference between its GloBE
effective tax rate per jurisdiction and the 15% minimum rate. All entities within the group have an
effective tax rate that exceeds 15%.

Schiphol Group has assessed their Pillar Two positions and ordinarily does not expect any Pillar Two
top-up tax to become due. However, due to a prior year adjustment the effective tax rate for the
US entities unintentionally falls below the 15% minimum level of the Pillar Two requirements and
consequently Schiphol Group recognised a provision of 2.2 million euros for this.
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16. Investments in associates and joint ventures

Associates Joint ventures

(in thousands of euros) BACH Other Subtotal TGHC Other Subtotal Total
Carrying amount as at 1 January 2023 227,151 59,869 287,020 119,423 85,885 205,308 492,328
Share in result (incl impairments) 21,125 702 21,827 -2,742 3,641 899 22,726
Share in OCI -4,239 9 -4,230 - - - -4,230
Dividends received -17,762 - -17,762 - -1,030 -1,030 -18,792
Acquisitions - 915 915 - 5,235 5,235 6,150
Exchange differences -7,089 -58 -7.147 -3,640 -105 -3,745 -10,892
Other - - - -1,693 - -1,693 -1,693
Total movement in the year -7,965 1,568 -6,397 -8,075 7,741 -334 -6,731
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2023 219,186 61,437 280,623 111,348 93,626 204,974 485,597
Share in result (incl impairments) 29,367 12,424 41,791 885 -2,179 -1,294 40,497
Share in OCI 1,944 - 1,944 - - - 1,944
Dividends received -42,053 -833 -42,886 - -5,358 -5,358 -48,244
Capital contributions - 1,016 1,016 - - - 1,016
Disposals - -640 -640 - -1 =11 -651
Exchange differences -6,510 - -6,510 -3,472 178 -3,294 -9,804
Other - -21 =21 - 700 700 679
Total movement in the year -17,252 11,946 -5,306 -2,587 -6,670 -9,257 -14,563
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2024 201,934 73,383 275,317 108,761 86,956 195,717 471,034
Goodwill included in carrying amount:

As at 31 December 2023 71,874 - 71,874 124,668 1,033 125,701 197,575
As at 31 December 2024 69,615 - 69,615 120,750 133 120,883 190,498
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Of all interests held by Schiphol Group in associates and joint ventures, only the following are
considered to be individually significant:

Shareholding as at
31 December

Accounting Principal place

classification of business 2024 2023
Brisbane Airport Corporation Brisbane,
Holdings Ltd ("BACH") Associate Australia 19.61% 19.61%
Tasmanian Gateway Holdings Hobart,
Corporation Pty Ltd ("TGHC") Joint venture Australia 35% 35%

A complete list of associates and joint ventures has been filed with the Amsterdam Chamber of
Commerce. Schiphol Group is not directly liable for the obligations of its associates.

Schiphol Group has significantinfluence over BACH, even thoughits interestis smaller than 20%. This
significant influence is in the form of rights to appoint members of the Board of Directors, rights to
vote on key strategic and financial decisions and through exchange arrangements.

The 35% share in TGHC qualifies as a joint venture for accounting purposes. Resolutions at Board
meetings are decided by a simple majority, except for fundamental shareholder matters (e.g. in
respect of shareholder rights, the constitution, shares or other securities, liquidation, appointment or
removal of the auditor or any independent directors) and certain other resolutions (e.g. on adoption
of, amendment to or departure from the business plan, acquisitions, financing of the company,
appointment of the CEO and important transactions that exceed the applicable threshold), which
require a majority of 75%. Such a majority is only possible if the resolution has the unanimous
consent of all shareholders.

None of Schiphol Group's associates and joint ventures are listed on a stock exchange.

Acquisition of 40% share interest in Maastricht Aachen Airport as of 1 September 2023

At 1 September 2023, Schiphol Group acquired 40% of the shares in NV Holding Businesspark
Luchthaven Maastricht (holding company of Maastricht Aachen Airport). The resulting interest is
classified as joint venture for accounting purposes. There were no material differences between the
total consideration paid and the fair values estimated at acquisition date.

Impairment testing
Information on significant assumptions used for the purpose of testing Schiphol Group's interest in
BACH and TGHC for possible impairments is disclosed in note 3 Critical judgements and estimates.

Notes to the company
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Summarised financial information of material associates and joint ventures
The following tables present summarised financial information of BACH, adjusted where necessary
to align with Schiphol Group's accounting policies and translated to euros:

Summarised financial information For the year ended 31 December

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Revenue 636,205 557,243
Depreciation and amortisation -98,306 -97,779
Interest expense -144,506 -116,483
Result before tax 244,892 154,858
Income tax -73,538 -46,531
Result after tax 171,354 108,327
Other comprehensive income 13,602 -25,628
Total comprehensive income 184,956 82,699
Summarised statement of financial position As at 31 December

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Non-current assets 3,864,725 3,677,906
Cash and cash equivalents 46,668 55,368
Other current assets 83,523 85,038
Current assets 130,191 140,406
Total assets 3,994,916 3,818,312
Equity 674,757 725,838
Non-current financial liabilities 2,170,617 2,165,203
Other non-current liabilities 576,731 567,186
Non-current liabilities 2,747,348 2,732,389
Trade and other payables 101,045 102,945
Other current liabilities 471,766 257,140
Current liabilities 572,811 360,085
Total equity and liabilities 3,994,916 3,818,312
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The following table presents summarised financial information of TGHC, adjusted where necessary
to align with Schiphol Group's accounting policies and translated to euros:

Summarised financial information

(in thousands of euros)
Revenue

Depreciation and amortisation
Interest expense

Result before tax

Income tax

Result after tax

Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income

Summarised statement of financial position

(in thousands of euros)

Non-current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Other current assets
Current assets

Total assets

Equity

Non-current financial liabilities
Other non-current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Other current liabilities
Current liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

2024
49,578
-13,600
-15,505

2,343
381
2,724

2,724

As at 31 December

2024
389,802

16,474
15,248
31,722
421,524

-34,256

253,537
99,727
353,264

18,766
83,750
102,516
421,524

For the year ended 31 December

2023
44,079
-13,743
-14,835

-7,427
643
-6,784

-6,784

2023
360,237

9,808
7,794
17,602
377,839

-39,468

231,190
88,657
319,847

11,001
86,459
97,460
377,839

Other information

17. Loans to associates and joint ventures

(in thousands of euros)

Carrying amount as at 1 January

Accrued interest

Exchange differences

Payments received

Other movements

Total movements in the year

Carrying amount as at 31 December

Fair value as at 31 December

2024
113,141
7,933
-3,599

-7,558

-3,224

109,917

118,575

Royal Schiphol Group - 2024 Annual Report

2023
136,159
7,862
-3,013
-25,111

-2,756
-23,018

113,141

123,992

The loans to associates and joint ventures consist of Redeemable Preference Shares held in BACH
and Loan Notes held in TGHC, which are both denominated in AUD. See note 28.2 Financial
risk management objectives and policies for further information on Schiphol Group's policies

for managing foreign currency risk. See note 28.3 Fair value measurement hierarchy for further

information on the fair value measurement of the loans.

Loan Notes held in TGHC

The loan notes held in TGHC are a mixture of interest-bearing and interest-free loan notes. The
maturity date of the loan notes is 31 May 2030. In 2024, Schiphol Group received a prepayment
amounting to 1.7 million euros (2.8 million Australian dollars) on the interest-bearing loan notes

(2023: 2.8 million euros).

Ontheinterest-bearing loan notes, interestaccumulates at a rate 50 basis points above the weighted
average cost of senior debt for TGHC. The effective interest rate is 5.3% (2023: 5.2%). In 2024,
Schiphol Group received interest amounting to 1.6 million euros on the interest-bearing loan notes

(2023: 1.7 million euros).

The effective interest rate on the interest-free loan notes is 2.2% (2023: 2.2%), while for fiscal

purposes, interest is imputed on the interest-free loan notes at a fixed rate of 3.2%.
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Redeemable Preference Shares (RPS) held in BACH

The RPS for BACH are entitled to accumulating dividends at a rate of 7.6% (2023: 7.6%). The maturity
date of the RPS is 1 July 2031. In 2024, Schiphol Group received dividends amounting to 4.3 million
euros on the RPS. The effective interest rate is 8.4% (2023: 8.4%).

18. Other non-current financial assets

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Derivatives - 7,423
Lease incentives 11,611 9,027
Prepayments on fixed assets 371 371
Purchased long leases 2,243 2,333
Loans to third parties 150 150
Other equity interests measured at FVTPL 1,304 -
Total other non-current financial assets 15,679 19,304

The carrying amount of derivatives comprises the fair value of a cross-currency swap. Please see note
28.2 Financial risk management and objectives for further information.

Receivables from lease incentives arise from benefits which Schiphol Group grants to tenants at
the commencement of leases (such as rent-free periods or step-up rents). The receivable will be
settled by receiving future lease payments. The existence of lease incentives is taken into account in
establishing the cash flows underlying the determination of the fair value of property.

Purchased long leases comprise rent instalments paid in advance by Schiphol Group with respect to
land acquired on a long lease basis.

Notes to the company
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19. Trade and other receivables

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Trade receivables 249,910 226,917
Value-added taxes 28,330 29,336
Accrued income 55,332 67,030
Prepaid expenses 27,168 25,555
Other loans to associates - 1,998
Lease incentives 4,270 3,513
Assets held for sale - 11,553
Other receivables 20,303 2,995
Total trade and other receivables 385,313 384,403

The carrying amount of trade receivables includes expected credit losses of 3 million euros
(31 December 2023: 8 million euros). For a more detailed explanation, please refer to note 28.2
Financial risk management objectives and policies.

Assets held for sale as at 31 December 2023 represented the fair value less costs to sell of agricultural
property and lands located in the Netherlands. Even though Schiphol Group intends to sell these
assets, the sale is no longer expected to occur within one year from the reporting date, and
therefore the formal criteria for classification as held-for-sale under IFRS 5 are no longer met. As at
31 December 2024, these assets are recorded under Investment Property.
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20. Liquidity position

Schiphol Group's liquidity position consist of the following:

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Short-term deposits (initial maturity > 3 months) 580,000 370,000
Accrued interest 5,342 6,760
Short-term deposits 585,342 376,760
Current accounts at financial institutions 166,494 201,327
Investment in money market funds 259,030 333,416
Short-term deposits (initial maturity <3 months) 25,000 250,000
Cash and cash equivalents 450,524 784,743
Total 1,035,866 1,161,503

The average interest rate on the deposits reported under cash and cash equivalents as at
31 December 2024 is 3.2% (2023: 3.2%). The effective interest rate on the deposits presented
separately as current asset on the statement of financial position is 3.2% (2023: 2.9%).

Bank guarantees
Cash and cash equivalents include 3.6 million euros of bank guarantees provided (2023: 5.5 million
euros), consisting of:

— A bank guarantee amounting to 2.3 million euros relating to payment commitments in
connection with the ‘Storage in Underground Tanks’ order, provided to the province of
North Holland.

— Abank guarantee of 1.3 million euros provided to TenneT TSO B.V. for the connection to
the150kV-station Rozenburg-Zuid.

For a more detailed explanation on the credit risk, please refer to note 28.2 Financial risk
management objectives and policies.
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21. Equity

21.1. Issued share capital, share premium and treasury shares

The authorised share capital as at 31 December 2023 is 142,960,968 euros divided into 300,000 class
A shares and 14,892 class B shares, with a nominal value of 454 euros each. 171,255 of the class A
shares and 14,892 of the class B shares have been issued.

The class A and class B shares carry the same rights, except for the right to amend the Articles of
Association. An amendment to the Articles of Association can only be adopted at a General Meeting
of Shareholders at which all the class A shares in issue are represented, by a majority of at least
four/fifths of all the votes cast. The General Meeting of Shareholders may resolve to withdraw all the
class B shares in issue by an absolute majority of the votes cast.

The shareholders’ interests are as follows:

Issued capital

Shares (in thousands

Shareholder (number) of euros) Relative interest
Class A shares:

State of the Netherlands 129,880 58,966 69.77%
Municipality of Amsterdam 37,276 16,923 20.03%
Municipality of Rotterdam 4,099 1,861 2.20%
Subtotal: 171,255 77,750 92.00%
Class B shares:

Treasury shares 14,892 6,761 8.00%
Subtotal: 14,892 6,761 8.00%
Total 186,147 84,511 100.00%

There were no changes in the issued share capital and the share premium in the reporting period.

21.2. Retained profits
No dividends are distributed for the financial years 2022 and 2023 in 2023 and 2024, respectively.
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21.3. Other reserves
The movements in other reserves for the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are summarised as follows:

Exchange Share in OCI Actuarial gains

(in thousands of euros) differences reserve Hedge reserve of associates and losses Total
Balance at 1 January 2023 9,161 -3,016 840 -3,549 3,436
Other comprehensive income:

Exchange differences on foreign operations -11,425 - - - -11,425
Fair value movement EUR/JPY cross-currency swap - -18,767 - - -18,767
Reclassification to statement of income (offset FX-result on JPY bond) - 10,391 - - 10,391
Recycling cash flow hedges to statement of income - 6,229 - - 6,229
Other movements - -4,775 - - -4,775
Share in other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures - - -4,230 - -4,230
Actuarial gains/losses - - - -4,088 -4,088
Total movements in the year -11,425 -6,922 -4,230 -4,088 -26,665
Balance at 31 December 2023 -2,264 -9,938 -3,390 -7,637 -23,229
Other comprehensive income:

Exchange differences on foreign operations -9,282 - - - -9,282
Fair value movement EUR/JPY cross-currency swap - -9,621 - - -9,621
Reclassification to statement of income (offset FX-result on JPY bond) - 4,133 - - 4,133
Recycling cash flow hedges to statement of income - 461 - - 461
Share in other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures - - 1,944 - 1,944
Actuarial gains/losses - - - -1,586 -1,586
Total -9,282 -5,027 1,944 -1,586 -13,951
Other movements - 4,775 - 1,871 6,646
Total movements in the year -9,282 -252 1,944 285 -7,305

Balance at 31 December 2024 -11,546 -10,190 -1,446 -7,352 -30,534
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The tax effects of the movements in equity, via other comprehensive income, are explained in note
15.2 Income tax in other comprehensive income.

The items recorded in the hedge reserve are partly expected to be reclassified to the statement of
income in future periods. The expected timing of reclassification is summarised as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Lehman derivative -
settlement 2008

Accumulated fair value
movements EUR/JPY cross-
currency swap

Total

(in thousands of euros)

Forward Starting Rate Swap -
refinancing 2013/2014

Lehman derivative -
settlement 2008

Accumulated fair value
movements EUR/JPY cross-
currency swap

Other

Total

Total 2024

3,949

6,241
10,190

Total 2023

212

4,240

751

4,735
9,938

Expected timing of reclassification to statement of income

>1and
< 1year <5 years > 5 years Never
291 1,163 2,495 -
- - 6,241 -
291 1,163 8,736 -

Expected timing of reclassification to statement of income

>1and
< 1year <5 years > 5 years Never
212 - - -
291 1,163 2,786 -
- - 751 -
- - - 4,735
503 1,163 3,537 4,735

Further information on the restrictions on the distribution of reserves can be found in note 36
Shareholders' equity in the company financial statements.

Notes to the company
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21.4. Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests represent the share in net assets of Schiphol Group's subsidiaries

Royal Schiphol Group - 2024 Annual Report

attributable to third party shareholders, and primarily relates to the 49% interest held by third
parties in Eindhoven Airport N.V. The following tables provide summarised consolidated financial

information of Eindhoven Airport N.V. for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

(in thousands of euros)

Summarised statement of financial position
Non-current assets

Current assets

Total assets

Equity attributable to (shareholders of) Schiphol Group
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests
Total equity

Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

Summarised statement of income
Revenue

Other results from investment property
Total operating expenses

Operating result

Financial income and expenses
Result before tax

Corporate income tax

Result for the year
Attributable to:

(Shareholders of) Schiphol Group
Non-controlling interests

2024

123,036
62,360
185,396

77,791
73,302
151,093

101

34,202

185,396

96,257

65,436
30,823

591
31,414

-8,105
23,309

12,000
11,309

2023

117,168
43,964
161,132

68,798
64,828
133,626

79
27,427
161,132

87,784
-281
-61,406
26,097

-264
25,833

-6,640
19,193

9,882
9,311
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22. Borrowings

(in thousands of euros)

Carrying amount as at 1 January 2023

Accrued interest

Payments of coupon interest
Repayments on notional amount
Fair value movements

Foreign exchange rate results

Cash tender offer June 2023:
Cash payment

Gain

Total movements in the year

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2023

Accrued interest

Payments of coupon interest
Repayments on notional amount
Issuance of new loans
Capitalised transaction cost

Fair value movements

Foreign exchange rate results
Total movements in the year

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2024

Classification carrying amount as at 31 December 2023

Non-current
Current
Total

Classification carrying amount as at 31 December 2024

Non-current
Current
Total

Company Notes to the company

financial statements financial statements

EMTN programme

4,434,031

61,094
-58,862
2,230
-20,985

-349,998
-30,041
-396,562

4,037,469

62,024
-54,345
592,980
-1,989
1,997
-12,569
588,098

4,625,567

3,983,414
54,055
4,037,469

4,304,174
321,393
4,625,567

European Investment Bank

622,049

15,828
-11,628
-9,000

-4,800

617,249

11,309
-12,639
-209,000

-210,330

406,919

396,389
220,860
617,249

222,700
184,219
406,919

Other information

KfW IPEX-bank

290,754

3,927
-3,901

26

290,780

1,261
-2,072
-100,000

-100,811

189,969

188,887
101,893
290,780

188,914
1,055
189,969

Royal Schiphol Group - 2024 Annual Report

Other
33,570
-1,838
-1,268

-25,000

-28,106

5,464

5,450

5,464

5,464

5,450

5,450

Total

5,380,404

79,011
-75,659
-34,000

2,230
-20,985

-349,998
-30,041
-429,442

4,950,962

74,645
-69,121
-309,000
592,980
-1,989
1,997
-12,569
276,943

5,227,905

4,574,154
376,808
4,950,962

4,721,238
506,667
5,227,905
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The key terms and conditions of Schiphol Group's borrowings are summarised as follows:

Currency
(in thousands of euros)
EMTN programme:
XS1900101046 EUR
XS1301052202 EUR
XS0378569247 JPY
X52069329451 AUD
XS1437013870 EUR
XS2019889778 AUD
XS0983151282 EUR
XS0997565436 EUR
XS2019891915 AUD
XS2153459123 EUR
XS2227050023 EUR
XS2227050379 EUR
XS2333391303 EUR
XS2333391485 EUR
X52901969902 EUR
Subtotal EMTN programme
European Investment Bank EUR
KfW IPEX-bank EUR
Other EUR

Total

Face value
2024

500,000
316,690
20,000,000
255,000
150,000
70,000
40,000
30,000
30,000
750,000
522,602
500,000
180,002
700,000
600,000

403,500
190,000
5,450

financial statements

2023

500,000
316,690
20,000,000
255,000
150,000
70,000
40,000
30,000
30,000
750,000
522,602
500,000
180,002
700,000

612,500
290,000
5,463

Other information
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Carrying amount Fair value
2024 2023 2024 2023
497,183 496,543 460,380 452,200
318,739 319,055 314,147 309,308
124,435 130,818 133,644 140,579
153,940 159,002 125,560 131,559
150,744 150,719 140,010 136,070
41,780 43,130 35,771 36,762
40,203 40,196 39,957 39,713
30,052 30,045 29,980 29,341
17,918 18,495 17,394 17,481
758,524 758,313 724,163 713,618
521,534 520,916 492,652 477,177
497,539 497,063 422,560 415,820
179,758 177,684 178,294 172,206
696,331 695,490 574,308 563,766
596,887 - 597,822 -
4,625,567 4,037,469 4,286,642 3,635,599
406,919 617,249 396,892 599,922
189,969 290,781 176,524 270,304
5,450 5,463 4,847 4,655
5,227,905 4,950,962 4,864,905 4,510,480

Year of
maturity

2030
2026
2038
2034
2028
2034
2025
2025
2027
2029
2027
2032
2025
2033
2036

2025-2031
2025-2028
2030

Interest
rate

1.50%
2.00%
5.64%
2.89%
1.12%
3.09%
3.08%
2.94%
2.40%
2.00%
0.38%
0.88%
0.00%
0.75%
3.38%

0.12%-4.14%
0.18%-2.08%
1.00

Further information on the impact of borrowings on Schiphol Group's liquidity and information on interest rate risk is provided in the paragraphs Liquidity risk and Market risk in note 28.2 Financial
risk management objectives and policies. Information on fair value measurement of Schiphol Group's borrowings is provided in note 28.3 Fair value measurement hierarchy. None of Schiphol Group's

borrowings are subordinated to other liabilities.
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EMTN programme

Schiphol Group has a Euro Medium Term Note (EMTN) Programme. Under the programme, Schiphol
Group can raise funds of up to 5.0 billion euros as required, provided the prospectus is updated
annually. The prospectus was updated in May 2024 and a supplement was filed in September 2024.
The covenants of the EMTN programme provision that a 'change of control' in combination with

a 'downgrade below investment grade' triggers early redemption. There was no obligation to do
so in 2024. As at 31 December 2024 notes with a notional amount of 1,750 million euros (2023:
1,750 million euros) qualify as green bonds.

During September 2024, additional bonds were issued to the value of 600 million euros with
a maturity date in September 2036 and coupon of 3.375%. The financing was raised to secure
sufficient access to liquidity in order to fund future investments.

In May and June 2023, Schiphol Group executed a liability management exercise by way of a Cash
Tender Offer on its outstanding 2025, 2026 and 2027 EUR Notes, which resulted in the repayment
and cancellation of a total notional amount of 380 million euro.

Schiphol Group established a number of hedges to reduce risk associated with its borrowings under
the EMTN-programme, in line with its financial risk management policy:

— AEUR/JPY cross-currency swap is established to hedge the foreign currency risk on the JPY-
denominated borrowings;

— Aninterest rate swap is established to hedge the risk of movements in the fair value of bond
X523333391303 with a notional amount of 180 million euros maturing in 2025;

— The AUD-denominated borrowings are considered to serve as a natural hedge for a portion of
Schiphol Groups AUD-denominated investments.

See note 28.2 Financial risk management and objectives for further information on the hedges and
the application of hedge accounting.

European Investment Bank

Schiphol Group has a number of facility agreements with the European Investment Bank ("EIB"),
of which 525 million euros is drawn and partially repaid at the reporting date, and committed but
undrawn facilities for a total amount of 350 million euros. Schiphol Group could be obliged to repay
loans early if (in addition to the usual circumstances) other loans are repaid early or its solvency
declines below 30%. Additional security will be demanded if the credit rating drops to BBB or lower
(S&P) or to Baa2 or lower (Moody'’s). The loan agreement also contains a ‘change of control’ clause.

Notes to the company
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KfW IPEX-bank

Schiphol Group has two loan agreements with KfW IPEX-Bank for a total outstanding amount of
190 million euros (2023: 290 million) with a weighted average maturity of three years. 100 million
euros were repaid in January 2024. No new facilities were entered into during 2024.

Other facilities
Schiphol Group has access to 850 million euros in committed undrawn bank facilities.

Eindhoven Airport has loan facilities in place for a total of 110 million euros to finance the future
capital expenditure and manage working capital swings. At 31 December 2024, no funding was
drawn under these facilities (2023: none). The covenants are met as at 31 December 2024.

Covenants

In 2024, Schiphol Group was in compliance with relevant covenants as agreed in the various
financing arrangements. The most relevant covenant is a financial covenant in relation to solvency,
which is included in the financing contracts with the European Investment Bank whereby this
solvency ratio must be higher than 30%. The solvency ratio for Royal Schiphol Group over 2024 was
38.4% (2023: 37.0%) and Schiphol Group expects the solvency ratio to stay at a level well above the
agreed minimum.
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23. Employee benefits

The carrying amount of provisions recorded at the reporting date in relation to employee benefits
is specified as follows:

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023

Post-employment benefits 25,935 23,255
Other long-term employee benefits 25,806 21,572
Total 51,741 44,827

Post-employment benefits

The carrying amount of provisions for post-employment benefits consist of a provision for a
job-related early retirement benefit plan, which qualify as defined benefit plan. The movementin the
provision is summarised as follows:

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Carrying amount as at 1 January 23,255 20,589
Cost recorded in the statement of income:

Service cost 741 647
Interest expense 774 758
Subtotal 1,515 1,405
Benefits paid -2,102 -2,154
Remeasurement gains/losses in OCl:

Actuarial gain/loss from changes in financial assumptions -448 1,339
Experience adjustments 3,715 2,076
Subtotal 3,267 3,415
Carrying amount as at 31 December 25,935 23,255

Notes to the company

Other information
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Schiphol Group does not hold any assets specifically for the purpose of funding this post-
employment benefit plan. The expected timing of settlement of the obligation as at the reporting

date is as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Within one year
In 1to 5 years
Beyond 5 years
Total

2024 2023
1,739 1,987
7,308 7,596

16,888 13,672
25,935 23,255

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 8.7 years (2023: 9.1 years).

The table below gives an overview of actuarial assumptions and estimates applied in determining

the provisions.

Discount rate
Expected return
General salary increases

Life expectancy

Individual salary increases
(depending on age)

Disability rates

Withdrawal probability
(average over all ages)

31 December 2024

3.35%
3.35%

January 2025: 5.0%
January 2026: 5.0%
Subsequent years:
2.0% (annually)

Royal Dutch Actuarial
Society’s (AG) generation
mortality table AG2024,
corrected with Mercer
experience mortality table

3.0% (to age 36),
2.0% (to age 47),
1.0% (to age 56),
0.0% (to age 70)

Derived from national
inflow and outflow WGA
for larger employers

1.60%

31 December 2023

3.35%
3.53%

January 2024: 3.25%
October 2024: 2.0%
Subsequent years:
1.5% (annually)

Royal Dutch Actuarial Society’s
(AG) generation mortality table
AG2022, corrected with Mercer
experience mortality table

3.0% (to age 36),
2.0% (to age 47),
1.0% (to age 56),
0.0% (to age 67)

Derived from national
inflow and outflow WGA
for larger employers

1.94%

Given the minimalimpact, a significant variance in the financial position of Schiphol Group as a result

of other assumptions is unlikely.
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Schiphol Group's generic post retirement benefit plan

Schiphol Group’s generic post retirement benefit plan is administered by Algemeen Burgerlijk
Pensioenfonds (ABP). The ABP pension regulations do not contain any provisions on additional
contributions to the fund and/or withdrawals from it in respect of Schiphol Group's share in
surpluses or deficits of the pension fund. Consequently, any surpluses and deficits will only resultin
changes in the amount of the contributions payable by Schiphol Group in the future and these will
depend on the actual and expected financial position of the pension fund as reflected in the funding
ratio. ABP's funding ratio was 111.9% as at 31 December 2024 (110.5% as at 31 December 2023).

Based on these terms and conditions, Schiphol Group concluded that the plan qualifies as a
defined-contribution plan. As a result, contributions payable are recognised as expense when
incurred. See note 8 Employee benefits expense for information on the amounts recorded as an
expense in the reporting period.

Other long-term employee benefits

The carrying amount of provisions for other long-term employee benefits consists of provisions
for long-service awards (defined benefits), sustainable employment budgets and disability
benefit supplements.

Notes to the company
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24. Provisions

Decommissioning  Environmental

(in thousands of euros) provision provision Other Total
Carrying amount as at

1 January 2023 6,901 19,270 22,914 49,085
Addition to provision 2,280 11,520 3,948 17,748
Use of provision - -6,494 -20,693 -27,187
Release to profit and loss - - -1,037 -1,037
Total movements in the year 2,280 5,026 -17,782 -10,476
Carrying amount as at

31 December 2023 9,181 24,296 5,132 38,609
Addition to provision 6,056 1,800 - 7.856
Use of provision -6,063 -3,766 -2,604 -12,433
Release to profit & loss -2,059 - -585 -2,644
Total movements in the year -2,066 -1,966 -3,189 -7,221
Carrying amount as at

31 December 2024 7115 22,330 1,943 31,388
Non-current 5,766 13,118 - 18,884
Current 1,349 9,212 1,943 12,504
Carrying amount as at

31 December 2024 7115 22,330 1,943 31,388

The decommissioning provision relates to obligations in respect of demolition and or repair work
after the use of the asset. It is expected that expenses will be incurred during the period of
decommission, which is currently expected to be finalised ultimately by 2030.

The environmental provision is recorded in relation to Schiphol Group's commitment to resolve
contamination of soil with perfluorooctanesulfonic acid (PFOS), which is a form of poly- and
perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS). The contaminated soil was detected during ground works at
Amsterdam Airport Schiphol. A provision is recognised for expenditures to be incurred in connection
with the temporary storage and decontamination and/or depositing of the contaminated soil,
which currently is expected to be finalised ultimately by 2028.
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(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Prepaid long leases 84,201 85,199
Lease liabilities 11,612 8,529
Derivatives 6,716 3,074
Unrealised profit on contribution in kind 1,833 2,269
Other - 142
Total other non-current liabilities 104,362 99,213

Prepaid long leases are rent instalments which Schiphol Group has received in advance on land
leases to third parties. This item is recognised through profit or loss over the term of the underlying
contracts. Prepaid long leases include an amount of 5.2 million euros relating to lease incentives
(2023: 3.6 million euros).

The unrealised profit on contribution in kind relates to land contributed to GEM A4 zone West CV.

The carrying amount of derivatives relates to the fair value of an interest rate swap. Please see note
28.2 Financial risk management and objectives for further information.

Lease liabilities relate to the lease of various assets used for operating activities, including
operational and employee vehicles, office space, a warehouse and multifunctional office equipment.
To determine the lease liability, the interest rate implicit in the IFRS 16 Leases was used. If that rate
could not be readily determined, the incremental borrowing rate was used. As such, the weighted
average rate applied is 3.51% (2023: 2.18%).

(in thousands of euros) Buildings Other assets Total
Non-current 1,435 10,177 11,612
Current 255 7147 7,402

Carrying amount of lease liabilities 1,690 17,324 19,014

Other information

26. Trade and other payables

(in thousands of euros)

Trade payables

Accruals

Deferred income

Lease liabilities

Wage tax and social security contributions
Prepaid long leases

Payable in respect of pensions
Flight tax

Derivatives

Other payables

Total trade and other payables

Royal Schiphol Group - 2024 Annual Report

2024

174,314
129,659
37,222
7,402
17,853
4,484
368
176,197
807
57,547
605,853

2023

196,090
138,420
58,728
5,749
15,884
3,226
255
154,376
50,590
623,318

Accruals include, among other things, settlements for the cost compensation mechanism. The
deferred income primarily relates to government grants received in advance.

Prepaid long leases include an amount of 2.5 million euros relating to lease incentives (2023:

1.3 million).
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27. Commitments and contingencies

27.1. Commitments
As at 31 December 2024, Schiphol Group had the following commitments:

>1and
(in thousands of euros) Total 2024 < 1year <5years > 5years
Commitments relating to:
Security, maintenance, cleaning and
other services 1,213,504 533,466 527,306 152,732
Development of Schiphol 699,354 325,087 175,889 198,378
Development of Lelystad Aiport 20,789 1,547 5424 13,818
Electricity and gas 14,283 14,283 - -
Total 1,947,930 874,383 708,619 364,928
As at 31 December 2023, Schiphol Group had the following commitments:

>1and
(in thousands of euros) Total 2023 <1year <5years > 5 years
Commitments relating to:
Security, maintenance, cleaning and
other services 695,625 510,673 140,341 44,611
Development of Schiphol 600,849 571,463 29,386 -
Development of Lelystad Aiport 20,080 1,554 5,054 13,472
Electricity and gas 14,283 14,283 - -
Other capital projects 4,863 4,863 - -
Total 1,335,700 1,102,836 174,781 58,083

Long-term partnership between Dutch construction firms and Schiphol Group

In January 2019, Schiphol contracted BAM, Heijmans and VolkerWessels group companies for the
maintenance, renewal and construction of new infrastructure and real estate at the airport. The total
estimated value of the assignment is 2 to 3.5 billion euros for a maximum period of 9 years. The
commitments under these contracts are mainly included under 'Security, maintenance and cleaning'
and 'Development of Schiphol' in the tables above.

Notes to the company
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27.2. Contingent assets

Airport charges settlement

Schiphol Group has a contingent asset related to the right to settle deficits on airport charges
incurred at Amsterdam Airport Schiphol in future periods. See note 5.1 Revenue from contracts
with customers.

Claim against the municipality of Haarlemmermeer

A joint venture of Schiphol Group has a claim against the municipality of Haarlemmermeer. Any
(financial) contribution resulting from the claim will be used for developing the northern area of the
motorway A9, which is the primary activity of this joint venture.

27.3. Contingent liabilities

BN-TAV claims with regards to the construction of Pier A

On 29 November 2021, Schiphol terminated the contract with the contractor (a joint venture
between Ballast Nedam and TAV Construction - BN-TAV) for the construction of Pier A. A new
contractor was appointed to finish the construction of Pier A.

In February 2023 BN-TAV has submitted its final account to Schiphol, containing contractual interim
claims for extension of time, unlawful termination and miscellaneous claims of subcontractors, as
well as claimed variations to the contract (meerwerk). The total claim amounted to 282 million euros.
In December 2023 BN-TAV initiated legal proceedings in which it claims a minimum of 154 million
euros, plus subcontractor claims which have been deferred.

In the legal proceedings, Schiphol has submitted its statement of defence on 5 June 2024, which
includes a partial counterclaim for the overpayment and a contractual penalty for delay for a total
of 81.5 million euros excluding interest. BN-TAV has submitted its statement of defence to this
counterclaim on 20 November 2024. A court hearing will be held in April 2025.

In addition, Schiphol has submitted an update to its post termination cost to complete claim to
BN-TAV on 20 December 2024. The total amount claimed per 31 December 2024 for the costs to
complete until 31 December 2023 is 91 million euros. The final amount claimed is dependent upon
finalisation of the project and it is not yet part of legal proceedings. Schiphol's total claim position
per 31 December 2024 is 184 million euros.

The legal proceedings have not changed Schiphol's view on its position and as a result no change to
the contingent liability as at 31 December 2024.

Contribution to environmental fund
As part of the eight-point plan, Schiphol Group proposed an Environmental Fund. Schiphol Group
will provide a total of 70 million euros (10 million euros per year), which will be used to improve

247



Notes to the consolidated
financial statements

Consolidated
financial statements

Company

Contents financial statements financial statements

the quality of life in the Schiphol Airport region. In 2023 and 2024, Schiphol Group finalised details
about the programme and governance of the fund. A new foundation will be established in 2025
as a successor of the Schiphol Quality of Life Foundation. The board of the foundation will be
independent of Schiphol Group. The foundation will be funded by Schiphol Group on a yearly basis
based on an approved budget that contains both organisational costs and program costs for that
year. On a yearly basis a maximum amount of 10 million euros will be available for funding.

Continued effort North/South metro line extension

Expected demand of public transport passengers in the metropolitan region of Amsterdam are
projected to surpass the capacity of the Schiphol train station (when MKS project is completed).
OVAH has to accommodate this growth and improve access for passengers to and from Schiphol via
public transport. Additionally, this modal shift will generate more capacity for international trains.

In 2023 Schiphol has continued and formalised its collaboration with its key public and private
stakeholders. The project organisation of MIRT OVAH has started the exploration phase in 2024,
which is financed by the Dutch Ministry of Infrastructure and Water management. In this phase,
several alternatives are being explored to ensure long-term accessibility. Three modalities are being
considered: metro, train, and BRT (Bus Rapid Transit). The joint partners of governmental bodies
and private organisations expect to decide upon a preferred alternative by the end of 2026. The
development of OVAH will be financed by the joint partners, as part of which Schiphol has committed
to contribute up to 101 million euros.

The chosen modality in the MIRT OVAH project will encourage sustainable connectivity ata regional,
nationaland international level. It will free capacity in the Schiphol tunnel, which can then be used by
both national and international trains. The latter is important so the train can serve as an alternative
to air travel on short distances. Moreover, it will reinforce Schiphol as a multimodal hub by bringing
together public transport, cars and planes.

Soil contamination

PFAS contaminated soil was detected during excavations for development projects at Amsterdam
Airport Schiphol. Since 2017, local legislation requires Schiphol to clean PFAS-contaminated

soil when the contamination causes environmental risks and in 2019 national legislation was
implemented. Schiphol Group records a provision for the cost it expects to incur for decontamination
of contaminated soil detected up to the reporting date, see note 24 Provisions. No provision is
recorded for potential PFAS contamination under existing assets, as Schiphol Group is unable to
make a reliable estimate to what extent soil under existing assets is potentially contaminated.

Contaminated extinguishing foam
In July 2008, the Rijnland Regional Water Authority collected PFOS-contaminated extinguishing
foam, released during an incident at a KLM hangar in Schiphol-Southeast and stored it in reservoirs
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made available by Schiphol Group. Control measures were taken around the reservoirs to prevent
the further spread of PFOS. KLM, Schiphol and Rijnland each financed a third of the costs of the
control measures taken, without any party acknowledging its responsibility for the damageincurred.
The control measures are still operational and these operational costs are financed by KLM, Schiphol
and Rijnland (each a third), the total amount of approximately 0.3 million euros for the period 2024
(2023: 0.3 million euros). Anticipated expenses for 2025 are expected to align closely with those
incurred in 2024.

Schiphol Area Development Company N.V. (SADC)

Schiphol Group participates directly, and indirectly through the collaborative venture Schiphol Area
Development Company N.V. (SADC), in land holdings in the vicinity of Amsterdam Airport Schiphol.
SADC's objective is to develop business locations and supporting infrastructure projects around the
airport. One of these land holdings concerns the A4 Zone West area. Schiphol Group has a future
obligation to contribute 2.6 million euros as a limited partner's contribution, to be increased by
financing and acquisition costs, to fund the contribution of land to GEM A4 Zone West C\V. by the
municipality of Haarlemmermeer.

27.4. Other commitments

Fiscal unity

Together with a number of its Dutch subsidiaries, Royal Schiphol Group N.V. forms a fiscal unity for
corporate income tax and VAT purposes. As such, each of the entities forming part of the fiscal unity
is jointly and severally liable for the liabilities of the fiscal unity as a whole.

Other

Other claims against Royal Schiphol Group N.V. and/or its subsidiaries have been filed, and there are
disputes which are yetto be settled. All claims and disputes are being contested and the company has
taken legal advice on them. However, as it is impossible to predict the outcomes with any certainty,
it is not yet clear whether any of the cases will result in actual liabilities for the company and/or

its group companies. Accordingly, no provisions have been recognised in the statement of financial
position in respect of these claims and disputes.

The company has also brought claim(s) against third parties and has disputes pending in which it is
the claimant. Since it is not yet clear whether these cases will be resolved in the company's favour, no
related receivables have been recognised in the statement of financial position.
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28. Management of financial risks and financial instruments

28.1. Financial income and expenses
The table below provides a breakdown of financial income and expenses recorded in the statement
of income for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023:

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Financial income
Interest on loans to associates and joint ventures 7,933 7,862
Other results from financial assets 826 -
Interest on cash and cash equivalents 17,949 27,361
Other gains on financial liabilities 617 30,708
Foreign exchange rate results on cash and cash equivalents 103 63
Foreign exchange rate results on other assets and liabilities 5,606 1,972
Results on short-term investments 11,610 15,861
Other financial income 352 4,797
44,996 88,624
Financial expenses
Interest on loans and borrowings -75,234 -78,391
Changes in fair value of derivatives -3,675 -10,459
Foreign exchange rate results on loans to associates and
joint ventures -3,240 -3,013
Interest on lease liabilities -576 -317
Capitalised borrowing cost 20,537 9,985
Other financial expenses -1,390 -4,102
-63,579 -86,297
Total financial income and expenses -18,582 2,327

The foreign exchange rate results on loans to associates and joint ventures relate to the loans
provided to BACH and TGHC, as further disclosed in note 17 Loans to associates and joint ventures.
The loans are not considered to be part of the net investment in the respective foreign operation.
Consequently, foreign exchange rate results are recorded in income. As from 2019, a natural hedge
exists between the loans to associates and joint ventures which are all denominated in AUD, and the
borrowings under the EMTN-programme denominated.
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The other gains on financial liabilities recorded in the year ended 31 December 2023 relate to the
execution of a cash tender offer on three of the outstanding EMTN notes, which resulted into a
380 million euros notional redemption against a cash settlement of 350 million euros.

28.2. Financial risk management objectives and policies

Financial risk factors

Due to the nature of its activities, Schiphol Group faces a variety of risks including market risk,
counterparty risk and liquidity risk. The financial risk management programme (which is part
of Schiphol Group's overall risk management programme) focuses on the unpredictability of
the financial markets and on minimising any adverse effects this may have on Schiphol Group's
financial results.

Schiphol Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risks which are not offset

via a natural hedge. Financial risk management is carried out by the central treasury department
(Corporate Treasury) and is part of approved Management Board policy. In addition to drawing up
written guidelines for financial risk management, the Management Board determines the policy for
specific key areas such as currency risk, interest-rate risk, inflation risk, credit risk, the use of derivative
and non-derivative financial instruments, and the investment of liquidity surpluses. The contracts
relating to derivative financial instruments are shown in the table below.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: foreign currency
risk, price risk and interest-rate risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include loans and
borrowings, deposits, debt and equity investments and derivative financial instruments.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Schiphol Group's exposure to the risk of changes in
foreign exchange rates relates primarily to its foreign operations, loans to these foreign operations
(which are generally denominated in the functional currency of the foreign operation) and foreign
currency borrowings under the EMTN-programme.

For borrowings, Schiphol Group manages the foreign currency risk by using currency forwards and
swap contracts, to the extent the foreign currency risk on borrowings are not naturally offset by an
asset in the same foreign currency. The financial risk management policy is that virtually 100% of the
expected cash flows are hedged, with the condition that hedging costs need to be proportionate

to the risk being hedged. As at 31 December 2024, 6.4% of Schiphol Group's loans and borrowings
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had been drawn in foreign currency (2023: 7.0%), which fully relates to borrowings under the
EMTN-programme denominated in foreign currency (see note 22 Borrowings):

— The borrowings denominated in AUD serve as a natural hedge for part of Schiphol Group's
AUD-denominated investments.

— The foreign currency risk on the JPY-denominated position is fully hedged by means of a
EUR/JPY cross-currency swap. Schiphol Group applies cash flow hedge accounting to this hedge
relationship and, as the hedge is assessed to be effective, all gains and losses on the hedging
instrument are recorded in other comprehensive income (net of tax). Accumulated gains and
losses are subsequently recycled to the statement of income to the extent that foreign exchange
results of the hedged item impact Schiphol Group's income. Key characteristics of the EUR/JPY
cross-currency swap are summarised as follows:

Notional

amount
Type Counterparty Interest rate Currency (x1000) Maturity date
Currency swap JPMorgan 5.64% EUR 120,000 August 2038

Under the cross currency swap, Schiphol Group receives payments in JPY which exactly mirror size
and timing of all payments due (interest and repayments) for the JPY-denominated notes under the
EMTN programme. Inreturn, Schiphol Group makes euro payments to the counterparty based on the
terms as disclosed in the table above. The interest rates of both legs of the cross currency swap are
fixed over the entire term.

The cross-currency swap is measured at fair value, its carrying amount is summarised as follows:

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Fair value (excluding accrued interest) -5,533 8,521
Accrued interest -1,183 -1,098
Total -6,716 7,423

The carrying amount of the cross-currency swap is presented in other non-current liabilities, see note
25 Other non-current liabilities (2023: under other non-current financial assets in note 18 Other
non-current financial assets).

Schiphol Group’s counterparty risk in respect of the cross-currency swap is mitigated by a cash
collateral agreement with JPMorgan, which results in a maximum net position for both parties that
depends on the parties’ credit ratings. If the credit rating of either party is reduced, the maximum
net position for that party will also decrease. Under the cash collateral agreement, the difference
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between the market value of the swap and the applicable maximum net position is paid weekly
through the bank.

As at 31 December 2024, the maximum net position of both Royal Schiphol Group and JPMorgan
amounted to 10 million euros (2023: 10 million euros).

The following tables demonstrate the sensitivity to a change of 5% in Australian Dollars (AUD) and
US Dollars (USD) exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, taking into account Schiphol
Group's hedging policy and transactions as outlined above.

Statement of income Equity

(in thousands of euros)
As at 31 December 2024

Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening

AUD -8,975 8,121 19,714 -17,837
usD 103 -93 1,958 -1,771
As at 31 December 2023

AUD -7,120 6,442 18,881 -17,083
usD 111 -101 1,267 -1,146
Price risk

Price risk is the risk of fluctuations in the value of assets and liabilities as a result of changes in
market prices. Schiphol Group is affected mainly by the price risk on investment property, for which
information is disclosed in note 14 Investment property.

Interest-rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

Schiphol Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the fair
value of Schiphol Group’s long-term debt obligations with fixed interest rates. If market interest rates
decrease by an average of 50 basis points, this would resultin an increase of 107 million euros (2.2%)
inthefair value of borrowings (2023: 98 million euros or 2.2%). An average increase of 50 basis points
in market interest rates would result in a decrease of 103 million euros (2.1%) in the fair value of
borrowings (2023: 94 million euros or 2.1%).
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Schiphol Group's exposure to the risk of changes in future cash flows from changesin marketinterest
rates is is limited and relates to cash and cash equivalents and some of its loans and borrowings.

Schiphol Group’s policy is to have fixed interest rates for at least 50% of its borrowings, if necessary
by using derivatives. As at 31 December 2024, 93% of borrowings were fixed-interest (2023: 93%).

Schiphol Group is party to an interest rate swap over a notionalamount of 180 million euros to hedge
fair value movements of notes maturing in 2025, issued under the EMTN-programme. Under the
swap, Schiphol Group receives a fixed coupon and pays a floating interest rate of 3-month Euribor
plus a spread. The fixed coupon received under the swap mirrors the fixed coupon payable under the
hedged bond.

Key characteristics of the interest rate swap are summarised as follows:

Notional

amount
Type Counterparty Interest rate Currency (x1000) Maturity date
Interest rate swap ING Bank 0.00% EUR 180,000  April 2025

Schiphol Group applies fair value hedge accounting to the hedge, which was established in 2022. As
aresult, changesinthe fair value of the hedged item (the hedged notes under the EMTN-programme
with a notional amount of 180 million euros maturing 2025) since inception of the hedging
relationship are recorded in the statement of income, together with changes in the fair value of the
interest rate swap. The impact on income for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 of the fair
value hedge are summarised as follows:

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Change in fair value of interest rate swap 1,966 2,458
Change in fair value of hedged item -1,997 -2,230
Subtotal changes in fair value -31 228
Net interest expense incurred -3,154 -2,114
Net impact on statement of income -3,185 -1,886
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The interest rate swap is measured at fair value, its carrying amount is summarised as follows:

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Fair value (excluding accrued interest) -391 -2,387
Accrued interest -416 -687
Total -807 -3,074

The carrying amount of the interest rate swap is presented in trade and other payables, see
note 26 Trade and other payables (2023: under other non-current liabilities in note 25 Other
non-current liabilities).

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument
or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. Schiphol Group is exposed to credit risk from

its operating activities (primarily trade receivables) and from its financing activities, including
deposits with banks and financial institutions and other financial instruments (including derivative
financial instruments).

To mitigate credit risk on its financing activities, Schiphol Group’s counterparties in derivative
financial instruments and liquidity transactions are restricted to financial institutions with high
creditworthiness ratings (a minimum S&P credit rating of A) and the net position for each
counterparty may not exceed 200 million euros. The maximum net position as at 31 December
2024 was 141.7 million euros (2023: 146.7 million euros). At year-end 2024, Schiphol Group has a
counterparty risk exposure of 187.5 million with AAA rating (2023: 75 million euros), 10.0 million
euro with AA rating (2023: nil) and 732.2 million with A rating (2023: 825 million euros) bank
facilities. The cash and cash equivalents are divided between different counterparties in order to
meet the maximum net position per counterparty.

The carrying amount of trade receivables amounts to 250 million euros at 31 December 2024 (2023:
227 million euros), which includes an allowance for expected credit losses of 3 million euros (2023:
8 million euros). New counterparties are assessed for creditworthiness, which may result in the
requirement for the counterparty to provide Schiphol Group with security in the form of a bank
guarantee or cash deposit. As at 31 December 2024, Schiphol Group holds 39.0 million euros in bank
guarantees and security deposits (2023: 38.7 million euros).
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Expected credit losses are measured based upon all possible situations and developments that may
lead to default of the debtor during the expected total lifetime of the receivable, taking into account
allinformation accessible without undue costs and efforts. Schiphol Groups provisioning matrix for
the trade receivables as at 31 December 2024 is summarised as follows:

Weighted

average Gross Loss Carrying

(in thousands of euros) loss rate amount allowance amount
Current (not past due) 0.0% 203,776 -21 203,755
1-30 days past due 0.4% 41,895 -162 41,733
31-60 days past due 4.1% 1,868 -76 1,792
61-90 days past due 39.6% 289 -115 174
91-180 days past due 59.0% 595 -351 244
181-365 days past due 19.1% 1,819 -348 1,471
>365 days past due 61.6% 1,837 -1,132 705
Bankruptcies 92.4% 469 -433 36
1.0% 252,548 -2,638 249,910

Schiphol Groups provisioning matrix for the trade receivables as at 31 December 2023 is summarised
as follows:

Weighted

average Gross Loss Carrying

(in thousands of euros) loss rate amount allowance amount
Current (not past due) 0.0% 151,559 -27 151,532
1-30 days past due 0.5% 61,398 -287 61,111
31-60 days past due 2.5% 5,626 -140 5,486
61-90 days past due 6.6% 2,065 -135 1,930
91-180 days past due 24.2% 2,079 -503 1,576
181-365 days past due 46.0% 2,100 -967 1,133
>365 days past due 59.5% 10,146 -6,038 4,108
Bankruptcies 83.7% 250 -209 41
3.5% 235,223 -8,306 226,917

The carrying amount of trade receivables from one customer is considered to be individually
significant and amounts to 93.1 million euros as of 31 December 2024 (2023: 80.4 million euros).
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Schiphol Group did not record an allowance for expected credit losses on its loans to associates and
joint ventures (see note 17 Loans to associates and joint ventures) as it does not expect to incur a
material credit loss.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that Schiphol Group will have difficulty in raising the funding required to
honour its commitments in the short term. Careful liquidity risk management means that Schiphol
Group maintains sufficient liquid resources and has access to sufficient funding in the form of
promised (and preferably committed) credit facilities and the EMTN programme. The financing
policy is also aimed at reducing the refinancing risk. See note 22 Borrowings for further information
on available facilities. In connection with liquidity risk, Corporate Treasury manages the cash pool
through which several of the subsidiaries’ bank balances are managed and netted for optimum
balance management.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of Schiphol Group’s financial liabilities based on
contractual gross undiscounted payments. To the extent that cash flows are variable in terms of
timing and/or amount, balances are included based on the expected timing and amount of outflow.

As at 31 December 2024 Gross undiscounted contractual cash flows due in

Carrying >1and
(in thousands of euros) amount Total <1year <5 years > 5 years
Borrowings 5,227,905 5,860,417 518,084 2,437,712 2,904,621
Trade payables 174,314 174,314 174,314 - -
Lease liabilities 19,014 19,014 7,402 11,612 -
Flight tax 176,197 176,197 176,197 - -
Accruals 129,659 129,659 129,659 - -
Total 5,727,087 6,359,600 1,005,656 2,449,324 2,904,621
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As at 31 December 2023

(in thousands of euros)
Borrowings

Trade payables

Lease liabilities

Flight tax

Accruals

Total
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Carrying
amount
4,950,962
196,090
14,278
154,376
138,420
5,454,126
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Gross undiscounted contractual cash flows due in

Total
5,407,190
196,090
14,278
154,376
138,420
5,910,354

< 1year
381,026
196,090
5,749
154,376
138,420
875,661

>1and
< 5years

2,051,546
8,529

2,060,075

> 5 years
2,974,618

2,974,618

Schiphol Group's policy is that no more than 25% of the cash flows from its financial liabilities are due
within one year after the reporting date. Asat 31 December 2024, this figure was 8.2% (31 December

2023: 6.3%).

Other information

28.3. Fair value measurement hierarchy
Thefollowing tables summarise the fair value measurement hierarchy of Schiphol Group’s assets and
liabilities. Reference is made to note 2.3.3 for further explanation on the levels within the fair value

measurement hierarchy.

As at 31 December 2024

(in thousands of euros)

Assets measured at fair value:
Investment properties:

- Buildings

- Land

- Assets under construction

Assets for which fair values
are disclosed:

Loans to associates and
joint ventures

Liabilities measured at
fair value:

Borrowings:

- EMTN programme note (hedged
item in fair value hedge)

Derivative financial liabilities
- Cross currency interest rate swap

- Interest rate swap

Liabilities for which fair values
are disclosed:

Borrowings (all other)

Total

1,415,816
425,443
12,472

118,575

-179,758

-6,716
-807

-4,686,611

-3,795,979

Royal Schiphol Group - 2024 Annual Report

Fair value measurement using

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
_ - 1,415,816
- - 425,443
- - 12,472
- 118,575 -
- -179,758 -
- -6,716 -
- -807 -
-890,632
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As at 31 December 2023

(in thousands of euros)

Assets measured at fair value:
Investment properties:

- Buildings

-Land

- Assets under construction
Derivative financial assets:

- Cross currency interest rate swap

Assets for which fair values
are disclosed:

Loans to associates and
joint ventures

Liabilities measured at
fair value:

Borrowings:

- EMTN programme note (hedged
item in fair value hedge)

Derivative financial liabilities

- Interest rate swap

Liabilities for which fair values
are disclosed:

Borrowings (all other)

Total

1,008,662
403,313
140,961

7,423

123,992

-177,713

-3,074

-4,328,112

-3,137,012

Fair value measurement using

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
- - 1,008,662

- - 403,313

- - 140,961

- 7,423 -

- 123,992 -

- -177,713 -

- -3,074 -
-1,191,100 -

For financial instruments for which the fair value is not separately disclosed, the carrying amount is
considered to be a reasonable approximation of the financial instruments fair value.

Notes to the company
financial statements

Other information Royal Schiphol Group - 2024 Annual Report

Valuation techniques and input used
Schiphol Group applies a variety of techniques and uses various inputs in determining the fair value
of its assets and liabilities:

— Investment property: see note 14 Investment property for further information.

— Loans to associates and joint ventures: The fair value is determined by discounting the future
contractual cash flows at current market interest rates available to the borrower for similar
financial instruments.

— Borrowings: The fair value is determined by reference to quoted prices for EUR-denominated
notes under the EMTN-programme. For all other borrowings, the fair value is determined
by discounting the future contractual cash flows (translated to euros at the spot rate if
denominated in a foreign currency) at the market interest rate applicable to Schiphol Group on
the reporting date.

— Derivative financial instruments: The fair value of these financial instruments is based on external
confirmation from the issuer and cross referenced to the present value of the projected future
cash flows converted into euros at the relevant exchange rates and the market interest rate
applicable to Schiphol Group on the reporting date.
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28.4. Capital management Gross debt as of 31 December 2024 and 2023 consists of the following:

Schiphol Group’s long-term capital strategy and dividend policy are geared towards improving
shareholder value, facilitating sustainable long-term growth and preserving an appropriate financial ~ (in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
structure and sound creditworthiness. Schiphol Group uses certain financial ratios, including cash

flow-based metrics, to capture the dynamics of capital structure, dividend policy and cash flow Borrowings 4,721,238 4,574,154
generation and monitors its capital structure in line with credit rating agencies and comparable best ~ Lease liabilities 11,612 8,529
practices. In this context, key financial ratios employed include: Non-current 4,732,849 4,582,683
— Funds From Operations (FFO)/Gross Debt: the FFO divided by total debt
- Funds From Operations (FFO) Interest Cover: the FFO plus interest charges divided by the Borrowings 506,667 376,808
interest charges liabiliti > 74
— Solvency: equity attributable to shareholders of the company divided by total assets Lease liabilities 740 >.749
Current 514,069 382,557
The funds from operations for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are:
Total 5,246,920 4,965,240
(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Interest expense for the purpose of the key financial ratios for the years ended 31 December 2024
Operating result 544,474 5878 and 2023 is summarised as follows:
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment expenses 353,604 344,147
Other result from investment property -164,828 150,595  (in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Other non-cash changes in other receivables and liabilities - 472
; : o Borrowings -75,234 -78,391
Change in employee benefits and other provisions -2,018 -5,178
Lease liabilities -576 -317
Income tax paid -16,573 -15,854
) Gross interest expense -75,810 -78,708
Interest paid -75,843 -79,416
Dividend received 48,244 18,792 Based on the above, the key financial ratios as of 31 December 2024 and 2023 are:
Funds From Operations 687,059 419,436
2024 2023
FFO / gross debt 13.1% 8.4%
FFO interest coverage ratio 10.1x 6.3x
Solvency 38.4% 37.0%

Solvency is the only ratio included in covenants in financing agreements, see note 22 Borrowings for
further information.
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29. Related party disclosures

29.1. Summary of related party transactions
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Schiphol Group identified material transactions with the following related parties:

Related parties

Key management personnel:
Management Board

Supervisory Board

Other key management personnel

Associates and joint ventures:

Brisbane Airport
Corporation Holdings Ltd.

Tasmanian Gateway Holdings Corporation Pty Ltd.

Schiphol Airport Retail B.V.

Shareholders:
State of the Netherlands
Municipality of Amsterdam

Municipality of Rotterdam

Other:

ABP

JFKIAT Member LLC.

Nature of relationship

Key management personnel
Key management personnel

Key management personnel

Associate

Joint venture

Joint venture

Shareholder
Shareholder
Shareholder

Group post-employment
benefit plan

Other equity interest

Notes to the company
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Other information

Nature of transaction(s)

Remuneration
Remuneration

Remuneration

Dividends and interest income on
loan receivable

Dividends and interest income on
loan receivable

Concession income, rent income

Dividends
Dividends
Dividends

Contributions in defined contribution plan

Revenues from management contract

Royal Schiphol Group - 2024 Annual Report

Relevant disclosure

Key management personnel remuneration
Key management personnel remuneration

Key management personnel remuneration

Investments in associates and joint ventures
Loans to associates and joint ventures

Investments in associates and joint ventures
Loans to associates and joint ventures

Revenue

Equity
Equity
Equity

Employee benefits

Trade and other payables
Intangible assets
Revenue
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29.2. Legislation and supervision of operations of Amsterdam Airport
Schiphol

In its legislative capacity, the government (State of the Netherlands) is responsible for the legislation

governing the operation of Amsterdam Airport Schiphol, which is provided for indefinitely in law in

Chapter 8, Part 4 of the Aviation Act and other legislation.

Sections 8.7 and 8.17 of the Aviation Act impose constraints on the development and use of
Amsterdam Airport Schiphol. The Airport Traffic Decree lays down rules for airport use and stipulates
limits for noise levels, air pollution and risks to public safety. The Airport Planning Decree defines
the airport zone and the restrictions governing the use of the airport and the surrounding area.
The Aviation (Supervision) Regulations define the rules concerning safety on the airport grounds.
As of July 2017, the new Aviation Act became effective, which includes changes with respect to the
consultation onand settlement of tariffs. This means thatas of 2018, Schiphol sets the tariffs for every
three-year period.

There are two lines of supervision on the airport operation of Amsterdam Airport Schiphol.

One line of supervision concerns preventing abuse, by the operator, of its position of economic
strength. The body responsible for this supervision is the ACM. The supervision relates to the charges
and conditions fixed by the operator pursuant to Section 8.25d of the Aviation Act to be charged to
the airport users in the subsequent year.

The other line of supervision involves the Ministry of Infrastructure and Water Management and
relates to the operation of Amsterdam Airport Schiphol, for which a license has been granted
pursuant to Section 8.25 of the Aviation Act. The operator reports to the minister on the operation
of the airport at least once every three years, with special reference to capital expenditure that is
important to the development of the airport. The ability to foster the mainport status of the airport,
to the extent that the operator is able to influence that status, is particularly dependent on the
development of the airport infrastructure in the medium and long term.

Other information
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29.3. Key management personnel remuneration

As of 1 February 2023, Schiphol Group changed the management structure of its organisation. The Management Board was transformed into a broader operational Executive Team that is responsible for
managing the company. This did not affect the statutory responsibility of the Management Board members. The company considers the members of the Executive Team (including the Management Board
members) and the Supervisory Board members to be the Key Management personnel as defined in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures.

Total remuneration to key management personnel for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 amounts to:

Fixed Variable Pension costs Other
(X EUR 1) remuneration remuneration Pension costs (supplementary) payments Severance pay Total 2024
Supervisory Board members 295,193 - - - 11,506 - 306,699
Management Board members 774,385 114,768 44,244 94,677 79,370 - 1,107,444
Other key management personnel 1,262,558 208,322 98,193 24,631 123,067 - 1,716,771
Total 2,332,136 323,090 142,437 119,308 213,943 - 3,130,914
Fixed Variable Pension costs Other
(X EUR 1) remuneration remuneration Pension costs (supplementary) payments Severance pay Total 2023
Supervisory Board members 286,730 - - - 11,785 - 298,515
Management Board members 1,074,441 127,101 63,100 124,829 100,715 202,616 1,692,802
Other key management personnel 1,068,626 142,366 84,940 10,723 85,482 - 1,392,137
Total 2,429,797 269,467 148,040 135,552 197,982 202,616 3,383,454
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Supervisory Board members
Remuneration to Supervisory Board members for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 amounts to:

Committees
Fixed Safety, Sustainability Capital Programme,
(x EUR 1) remuneration Audit People & Stakeholders  Operations & Investments Total 2024
J. Winter (chair) 42,094 - 5,766 5,766 - 53,626
R.J. van de Kraats (vice chair) 7,612 1,903 1,586 - - 11,101
S.G. Brummelhuis 27,678 - 5,766 5,766 5,766 44,976
D. Collier 27,678 6,920 - - 5,766 40,364
H.C. Figee 27,678 6,920 - - 5,766 40,364
E.van Galen 27,678 6,920 - 5,766 - 40,364
R.E. Habben Jansen 20,150 5,038 - - - 25,188
M.C. van der Laan 27,678 - 5,766 5,766 - 39,210
Total 208,246 27,701 18,884 23,064 17,298 295,193
Committees
Fixed Safety, Sustainability Capital Programme,
(x EUR 1) remuneration Audit People & Stakeholders  Operations & Investments Total 2023
J. Winter (chair) 40,769 - 5,585 5,585 - 51,939
R.J. van de Kraats (vice chair) 26,807 6,702 4,189 - - 37,698
S.G. Brummelhuis 26,807 - 5,585 5,585 5,585 43,562
D. Collier 26,807 6,702 - - 5,585 39,094
H.C. Figee 19,361 4,842 - - 1,396 25,599
E.van Galen 26,807 6,702 - 5,585 - 39,094
M.C. van der Laan 19,894 - 4,035 4,035 - 27,964
A.B.M. Olsson 13,404 - 2,792 2,792 2,792 21,780
Total 200,656 24,948 22,186 23,582 15,358 286,730
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Allmembers of the Supervisory Board also received an allowance for other expenses of 1,643 euros over the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: 1,697 euros) on top of the remuneration as disclosed above.
No shares, share options, loans, advances or guarantees have been or will be granted to members of the Supervisory Board. For more information on the Supervisory Board, refer to Supervisory Board.

Management Board members
The remuneration to Management Board members is disclosed in accordance with Section 2:383c of the Dutch Civil Code. Remuneration to Management Board members for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023 amounts to:

Fixed Variable Pension Pension Other
(x EUR 1) remuneration remuneration costs  costs (supplementary) payments Severance pay Total 2024
P.van Oord 275,862 45,517 14,897 41,148 17,486 - 394,910
L.M. Sondag 78,818 - 4,256 11,394 15,998 - 110,466
R.J. Carsouw 419,705 69,251 25,091 42,135 45,886 - 602,068
Total 774,385 114,768 44,244 94,677 79,370 - 1,107,444
Fixed Variable Pension Pension Other
(xEUR 1) remuneration remuneration costs  costs (supplementary) payments Severance pay Total 2023
L.M. Sondag 458,021 68,703 24,691 65,118 46,334 - 662,867
R.J. Carsouw 389,318 58,398 24,258 40,275 43,779 - 556,028
H.L. Buis 227,102 - 14,151 19,436 10,602 202,616 473,907
Total 1,074,441 127,101 63,100 124,829 100,715 202,616 1,692,802

Fixed remuneration consists of gross salaries and holiday allowance. The variable remuneration is based on the Supervisory Board's assessment of the extent to which the targets were achieved, the amounts
presented in the tables above are the accrued amounts for the year, which are paid in the subsequent year. The total variable remuneration for the Management Board over the year 2024 is determined
to be 16.5% (2023: 15.0%) of the respective members' fixed salaries.

From Mr. Sondag's retirement (effective 1 March 2024) through Mr. Van Oord's appointment (effective 1 June 2024), the position of CEO was held temporarily by Mr. Carsouw, for which he received a
supplement to his salary. Mr. Sondag was available during this period on declaratory basis to advise the Executive Team and the Supervisory Board, amounts declared (36 thousand euros in total) are not
included in the table above.
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30. Events after the reporting date

Schiphol Group acquired in January 2025 an additional 0.52% interest in common shares and
redeemable preference shares of Brisbane Airport Corporation Holdings Ltd in exchange for

59.4 million Australian dollar (35.7 million euros), which is paid in cash in full at the closing date. The
accounting implications of this transaction, including the purchase price allocation, will be evaluated
and processed in 2025.

Royal Schiphol Group - 2024 Annual Report
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(in thousands of euros)

Revenue

Cost of outsourced work and other external costs
Employee benefits expense

Other operating expenses

Total operating expenses
Operating result
Financial income

Financial expenses

Financial income and expenses

Share in results of subsidiaries

Result before tax

Income tax expense

Result for the year (attributable to shareholders)

Note

33

39

Notes to the company
financial statements

2024

46
1,001
339
1,386

-1,386

931

-62,261

-61,330

450,228
387,512

19,291
406,803

Other information
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2023

45
1,509
401
1,955

-1,955

2,545

-26,697

-24,152

33,156
7,049

5,657
12,706



Consolidated Notes to the consolidated Company Notes to the company
Contents  financial statements  financial statements financial statements  financial statements Other information Royal Schiphol Group - 2024 Annual Report 263

Company statement of financial position

(before appropriation of result)

(in thousands of euros) Note 31 December 2024 31 December 2023 (in thousands of euros) Note 31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Assets Equity and liabilities
Investments in subsidiaries 33 4,238,731 3,787,425  lIssued share capital 84,511 84,511
Derivatives 34 - 7,423 Share premium 362,811 362,811
Deferred tax assets 39 2,683 - Retained earnings 2,046,584 2,200,247
Non-current assets 4,241,414 3,794,848 Revaluation reserve 592,490 474,828
Other legal reserves 333,102 298,346
Receivables 35 4,237,192 3,690,768  Unappropriated result 406,803 12,706
Cash and cash equivalents 986 1,186  Shareholders' equity 36 3,826,301 3,433,449
Current assets 4,238,178 3,691,954
Deferred tax liabilities 39 - 2,348
Total assets 8,479,592 7.486,802 Provisions - 2,348
Borrowings 37 4,625,567 4,037,469
Derivatives 34 6,716 3,074
Non-current liabilities 4,632,283 4,040,543
Current liabilities 38 21,007 10,462
Total liabilities 4,653,290 4,053,353

Total equity and liabilities 8,479,592 7,486,802
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Notes to the company financial statements
31. General information

These company financial statements are part of the 2024 financial statements of Royal Schiphol
Group N.V.

32. Accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Title 9, Book 2 of the
Dutch Civil Code. For setting the principles for the recognition and measurement of assets and
liabilities and determination of the result for its company financial statements, the Company makes
use of the option provided in section 2:362(8) of the Netherlands Civil Code. This means that

the principles for the recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities and determination of
the result of the company financial statements of the Company are the same as those applied in
preparing the consolidated financial statements in accordance with EU-IFRS. See note 2 Accounting
policies of the consolidated financial statements for a description of these principles.

Subsidiaries

Participating interests in subsidiaries are accounted for in the company financial statements
according to the net equity value. Refer to note 2.2 Basis of consolidation in the consolidated
financial statements.

Result of participating interests

The share in the result of participating interests consists of the share of the Company in the result
of these participating interests. Results on transactions involving the transfer of assets and liabilities
between the Company and its participating interests and mutually between participating interests
themselves, are eliminated to the extent that they can be considered as not realised.

Shareholders' equity

The Company recorded various legal reserves in the company statement of financial position, that
are part of retained profits in the consolidated statement of financial position. These reserves restrict
the Company's ability to make distributions on equity.

The Company recorded legal reserves for the following items:

— The revaluation reserve (required under section 2:390(1) of the Dutch Civil Code) is maintained
for unrealised fair value gains on individual items of investment property (land and buildings)

Other information Royal Schiphol Group - 2024 Annual Report

held by companies forming part of Schiphol Group. Additions to this reserve are made through
the profit appropriation, after allowing for corporate income tax. On the sale of investment
property, the amount of the revaluation reserve for the property in question is transferred to
other reserves.

— The reserve for intangible assets (required under section 2:365(2) of the Dutch Civil Code)

is maintained in connection with research and development costs (software) capitalised by
companies forming part of Schiphol Group.

— Thelegal reserve for participating interests (required under section 2:389(6) of the Dutch

Civil Code) is formed for the share in the positive results of the entities concerned and in fair
value gains recognised directly in equity. Amounts are not recognised in respect of entities
whose cumulative results are not positive. The reserve is reduced by the amount of dividend
distributions, fair value losses recognised directly in equity and any distributions which Schiphol
Group would be able to effect without restriction.

The other reserves in total equity as recorded on the consolidated statement of financial position
(see note 21 Equity) are also recorded on the company statement of financial position. These reserves
when positive restrict the possibility of distribution.
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33. Investments in subsidiaries

The movement in the carrying amount of investments in subsidiaries is summarised as follows:

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023
Carrying amount as at 1 January 3,787,425 3,777,330
Share in result 450,228 33,156
Share in other comprehensive income 1,944 -4,230
Translation differences -9,282 -11,425
Changes in the hedging transactions reserve 461 6,228
Other movements 7,955 -13,634
Total movements in the year 451,306 10,095
Carrying amount as at 31 December 4,238,731 3,787,425

The subsidiaries of Royal Schiphol Group N.V. are Schiphol Nederland B.V. (100%) and Schiphol
International B.V. (100%). See note 2.2 Basis of consolidation for information of the principle place
of business of both entities.

34. Derivatives

The carrying amount of derivatives relates to a cross-currency swap and interest rate swap held by
the Company. See note 28.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies to the consolidated
financial statements for further information.

35. Receivables

The carrying amount of receivables primarily consists of receivables from group companies, there are
no formal agreements regarding payments. The carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of
the fair value.
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36. Shareholders' equity

(in thousands of euros)

Carrying amount as at 1 January 2023
Appropriation of result

Net result

Addition statutory reserves

Total movements in the year

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2023
Appropriation of result

Net result

Addition statutory reserves

Total movements in the year

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2024

Legal reserves

The legal reserves can be broken down as follows:

(in thousands of euros)

Exchange differences reserve
Hedge reserve

Share in OCl of associates
Actuarial gains and losses
Result subsidiaries
Development expenses

Total legal reserves

Notes to the consolidated
Contents financial statements financial statements

financial statements

Issued
share capital

84,511

84,511

2024

-11,546
-10,190
-1,446
-7,352
224,339
139,297
333,102

Notes to the company
financial statements

Share
premium

362,811

362,811

362,811

2023

-2,264
-9,938
-3,390
-7,637
201,544
120,032
298,346

Other information

Retained
earnings

2,198,421

-86,256

88,080
1,824

2,200,247

12,706

-166,369
-153,663

2,046,584

Retained earnings
Retained earnings include treasury shares for a total of 420 million euros.

Revaluation
reserve

587,497

-112,669
-112,669

474,828

117,662
117,662

592,490

Proposed appropriation of result
No dividends are proposed.

Other legal
reserves

300,422

-2,076
-2,076

298,346

34,756
34,756

333,102

Unappropriated
result

-86,256

86,256
12,706

98,962

12,706

-12,706
406,803

394,097

406,803

Royal Schiphol Group - 2024 Annual Report

Total

3,447,408

-0
12,706
-26,665
-13,959

3,433,449

406,803
-13,951
392,852

3,826,301
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37. Borrowings 39. Income taxes

The carrying amount of borrowings relates to the borrowings under the EMTN programme, see note  This note provides information on all items in the company financial statements related to income

22 Borrowings to the consolidated financial statements for further information. tax. Royal Schiphol Group N.V.is head of a fiscal unity for corporate income tax purposes, of which the
majority of Schiphol Group's Dutch entities are member. Corporate income tax is allocated to each
member of the fiscal unity as if each member is separately taxable. Current income tax balances for

38. Current liabilities the Dutch fiscal entity are recorded by Schiphol Nederland BV. and settled with each member of the
fiscal unity.

The carrying amount of current liabilities primarily consists of payables to group companies, there

are no formal agreements regarding payments. The carrying amount is a reasonable approximation  39_1, Income tax in the company statement of income

of the fair value. Reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by Royal Schiphol Group N.V.'s
domestic tax rate for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023:

(in thousands of euros) 2024 2023

Result before tax 387,512 7,049

Income tax calculated at the domestic

tax rate 99,978 25.8% 1,819 25.8%
Share in results of subsidiaries -116,159 -30.0% -8,554 -121.4%
Other (includes non-deductible expenses) -3,110 -0.8% 1,079 15.3%
Income tax expense in income

statement (effective) -19,291 -5.0% -5,657 -80.2%

39.2, Deferred income tax balances
The deferred income tax balances in the company statement of financial position related to
temporary differences on financial instruments held by Royal Schiphol Group N.V.

40. Commitments and contingencies

Royal Schiphol Group N.V. is the head of fiscal unities for corporate income tax and value added tax
purposes. See note 27.4 Commitments and contingencies for further information.
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Proposed result appropriation

Article 26 of the company’s Articles of Association contains the following provisions on
profit appropriation:

1. Without prejudice to the provisions of Section 2:105 of the Dutch Civil Code, the profit according
to the financial statements prepared by the Management Board shall be added to the reserves unless
the General Meeting of Shareholders resolves to make profit distributions according to a proposal
by the Management Board approved by the Supervisory Board.

2.The General Meeting of Shareholders shall decide the appropriation of the amounts thus reserved
according to a proposal by the Management Board approved by the Supervisory Board.

Royal Schiphol Group - 2024 Annual Report
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Independent auditor’s report
To: the shareholders and supervisory board of Royal Schiphol Group N.V.

Report on the audit of the financial
statements 2024 included in the annual
report

Our opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements for the financial
year ended 31 December 2024 of Royal Schiphol Group N.V. based in
Schiphol.

The financial statements comprise the consolidated financial statements
and the company financial statements.

In our opinion:
The consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of Royal Schiphol Group N.V. as at 31 December 2024
and of its result and its cash flows for 2024 in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted in the European
Union (EU-IFRSs) and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code
The company financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of Royal Schiphol Group N.V. as at 31 December 2024
and of its result for 2024 in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the
Dutch Civil Code

The consolidated financial statements comprise:
The consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2024
The following statements for 2024: the consolidated statements of
income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flow
The notes comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information

The company financial statements comprise:
The company statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024
The company statement of income for 2024
The notes comprising a summary of the accounting policies and other
explanatory information

Basis for our opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the
Dutch Standards on Auditing.

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our
report.
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We are independent of Royal Schiphol Group N.V. (hereinafter: Schiphol or
the company) in accordance with the EU Regulation on specific
requirements regarding statutory audit of public-interest entities,

the Wet toezicht accountantsorganisaties (Wta, Audit firms supervision act),
the Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-
opdrachten (ViO, Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, a regulation
with respect to independence) and other relevant independence regulations
in the Netherlands. Furthermore, we have complied with the Verordening
gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics for
professional accountants).

We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Information in support of our opinion

We designed our audit procedures in the context of our audit of the financial
statements as a whole and in forming our opinion thereon. The following
information in support of our opinion and any findings were addressed in
this context, and we do not provide a separate opinion or conclusion on
these matters.

Our understanding of the business

The principal activity of Royal Schiphol Group N.V. is the management,
operation and development of Amsterdam Airport Schiphol. Royal Schiphol
Group N.V. is also the owner and operator of Rotterdam The Hague Airport
and Lelystad Airport, and holds a majority stake in Eindhoven Airport

as well as a 40% stake in Maastricht Aachen Airport.

Notes to the company

financial statements Other information
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Besides domestic activities, Royal Schiphol Group N.V. has an interest in the
airports of Brisbane and Hobart (Australia) and manages terminal and retail
operations in Terminal 4 at JFK International Airport in New York (USA)
and/or collaborates closely with a number of international airports.

Schiphol is structured into three business areas: Aviation, Schiphol
Commercial and Alliances & Participations. We paid specific attention in our
audit to the areas driven by Royal Schiphol Group's operations and our risk
assessment.

We determined materiality and identified and assessed the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error in
order to design audit procedures responsive to those risks and to obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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Materiality
Materiality €15 million

Benchmark applied 0.7% of total revenues for 2024

Explanation Schiphol's revenues represent the normal,
continuing operations and activity for the company
and is determined to be a stable benchmark for
Schiphol to base our materiality upon. We deem
revenues to be an appropriate benchmark as this is
considered the main driver for profitability of
Schiphol and earnings-based benchmarks have
been volatile over the past years. The percentage
rate used is at the middle of a generally accepted
range.

We have also taken into account misstatements and/or possible
misstatements that in our opinion are material for the users of the financial
statements for qualitative reasons.

We agreed with the supervisory board that misstatements in excess of
€750,000, which are identified during the audit, would be reported to
them, as well as smaller misstatements that in our view must be reported
on qualitative grounds.

Other information Royal Schiphol Group - 2024 Annual Report

Scope of the group audit
Schiphol is at the head of a group of entities. The financial information of
this group is included in the financial statements.

We are responsible for planning and performing the group audit to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of
the entities or business units within the group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the financial statements. We are also responsible for the
direction, supervision, review and evaluation of the audit work performed
for purposes of the group audit. We bear the full responsibility for the
auditor’s report.

Based on our understanding of the group and its environment, the
applicable financial framework and the group’s system of internal control,
we identified and assessed risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements and the significant accounts and disclosures. Based on this risk
assessment, we determined the nature, timing and extent of audit work
performed, including the entities or business units within the group
(components) at which to perform audit work. For this determination we
considered the nature of the relevant events and conditions underlying the
identified risks of material misstatements for the financial statements,

the association of these risks to components and the materiality or financial
size of the components relative to the group. We communicated the audit
work to be performed and identified risks through instructions for
component auditors as well as requesting component auditors to
communicate matters related to the financial information of the component
that is relevant to identifying and assessing risks.
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Our group audit mainly focused on component Amsterdam Airport Schiphol,
with significant activities within the business areas Aviation and Schiphol
Commercial for which we have performed the audit procedures ourselves.

We have made use of the work of a non-EY auditor for two selected foreign
activities, being the investments in the associate Brisbane Airport
Corporation Holdings Ltd. and Tasmanian Gateway Holdings Corporation
Pty Ltd., within the business area Alliances & Participations. Also, we have
made use of the work of a non-EY auditor for newly acquired entities
Kappé Nederland B.V. including subsidiaries and Kappé Logistics B.V.,
within the business area Schiphol Commercial. We have asked the auditors
for these components to perform specific audit procedures.

This resulted in a coverage of 91% of revenue and 90% of total assets.

For other components, including the activities at Terminal 4 of JFK IAT,
Eindhoven Airport, Lelystad Airport and Rotterdam The Hague Airport,

we performed analytical procedures to corroborate that our risk assessment
and scoping remained appropriate throughout the audit.

We have held meetings with local management and component teams,
discuss the group risk assessment and the risks of material misstatements
for Brisbane Airport Corporation Holdings Ltd., Tasmanian Gateway
Holdings Corporation Pty Ltd., Kappé Nederland B.V. including subsidiaries
and Kappé Logistics B.V. (hereinafter: the selected components).

We reviewed and evaluated the adequacy of the deliverables from
component auditors and reviewed key working papers for the selected
components to address the risks of material misstatement.

We held planning meetings, key meetings required based on circumstances
and we attended meetings with local management and component teams for
the selected components. During these meetings, amongst others,

the planning, procedures performed based on risk assessments, findings
and observations were discussed and any further work deemed necessary
by the primary or component team was then performed.

By performing the audit work mentioned above at the entities or business
units within the group, together with additional work at group level,

we have been able to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence about
the group's financial information to provide an opinion on the financial
statements.

Teaming and use of specialists

We ensured that the audit teams both at group and at component levels
included the appropriate skills and competences which are needed for the
audit of a client in the airport industry. We included specialists in the areas
of IT audit, forensics, treasury and income tax and have made use of our
own valuation experts in the area of impairment testing and investment
property and actuaries for employee benefits.

Our focus on climate-related risks and the energy transition

Climate change and the energy transition are high on the public agenda.
Issues such as COz reduction impact financial reporting, as these issues
entail risks for the business operation, the valuation of assets

(stranded assets) and provisions or the sustainability of the business model
and access to financial markets of companies with a larger CO2 footprint.
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The management board summarized Schiphol’'s commitments and
obligations, and reported in the sections “Trends and developments” and
"Sustainability performance” of the annual report how the company is
addressing climate-related and environmental risks.

As part of our audit of the financial statements, we evaluated the extent to
which climate-related risks and the effects of the energy transition and the
company's commitments and (constructive) obligations, are taken into
account in estimates and significant assumptions as well as in the design of
relevant internal control measures. Furthermore, we read the annual report
and considered whether there is any material inconsistency between the
non-financial information and the financial statements. Based on the audit
procedures performed, we do not deem climate-related risks to have a
material impact on the financial reporting judgements, estimates or
significant assumptions as at 31 December 2024.

Our focus on fraud and non-compliance with laws and regulations

Our responsibility

Although we are not responsible for preventing fraud or non-compliance
and we cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and
regulations, it is our responsibility to obtain reasonable assurance that

the financial statements, taken as a whole, are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Notes to the company
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Our audit response related to fraud risks

We identified and assessed the risks of material misstatements of the
financial statements due to fraud. During our audit we obtained an
understanding of the company and its environment and the components of
the system of internal control, including the risk assessment process and
the management board's process for responding to the risks of fraud and
monitoring the system of internal control and how the supervisory board
exercises oversight, as well as the outcomes.

We refer to Section “Risk management and internal control” of the annual
report for the management board's risk assessment after consideration of
potential fraud risks.

We evaluated the design and relevant aspects of the system of internal
control and in particular the fraud risk assessment, as well as the code of
conduct, whistleblower procedures and incident registration.

We evaluated the design and the implementation of internal controls
designed to mitigate fraud risks.

As part of our process of identifying fraud risks, we evaluated fraud risk
factors with respect to financial reporting fraud, misappropriation of assets
and bribery and corruption in close co-operation with our forensic
specialists. We evaluated whether these factors indicate that a risk of
material misstatement due to fraud is present.

We incorporated elements of unpredictability in our audit. We also
considered the outcome of our other audit procedures and evaluated
whether any findings were indicative of fraud or non-compliance.
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We addressed the risks related to management override of controls, as this
risk is present in all organizations. For these risks we have performed
procedures among other things to evaluate key accounting estimates for
management bias that may represent a risk of material misstatement due to
fraud, in particular relating to important judgment areas and significant
accounting estimates as disclosed in Note 3 “Critical judgements and
estimates” to the financial statements. We have also used data analysis to
identify and address high-risk journal entries and evaluated the business
rationale (or the lack thereof) of significant extraordinary transactions,
including those with related parties.

The following fraud risks identified required significant attention during our
audit.

Presumed risks of fraud in revenue recognition

Fraud We presumed that there are risks of fraud in revenue

risk recognition. We evaluated that the incorrect revenue
recognition from airport charges of Amsterdam Airport
Schiphol which represent 63% of total revenues in particular
give rise to such risks.

Our We describe the audit procedures responsive to the presumed
audit risk of fraud in revenue recognition in the description of our
approach audit approach for the key audit matter “Revenue recognition

from requlated airport charges".

Other information Royal Schiphol Group - 2024 Annual Report

We considered available information and made enquiries of relevant
executives, directors, internal audit, legal, compliance and the supervisory
board.

The fraud risks we identified, enquiries and other available information did
not lead to specific indications for fraud or suspected fraud potentially
materially impacting the view of the financial statements.

Our audit response related to risks of non-compliance with laws and
regulations

We performed appropriate audit procedures regarding compliance with the
provisions of those laws and regulations that have a direct effect on the
determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Furthermore, we assessed factors related to the risks of
non-compliance with laws and regulations that could reasonably be
expected to have a material effect on the financial statements from our
general industry experience, through discussions with the management
board, reading minutes, inspection of internal audit, legal and compliance
reports, and performing substantive tests of details of classes of
transactions, account balances or disclosures.

We specifically took into consideration the inherent uncertainties related to
potential financial consequences of governmental and political decision
making and evaluated whether Schiphol has an adequate process in place to
evaluate the impact on potential non-compliance related to the Dutch
Aviation Act, the EU public tendering rules and relevant environmental
regulations.

275



Consolidated
financial statements

Notes to the consolidated
financial statements

Company
financial statements

Notes to the company

Contents financial statements Other information

Royal Schiphol Group - 2024 Annual Report 276

EY

Shape the future
with confidence

We also inspected lawyers' letters and correspondence with regulatory
authorities and remained alert to any indication of (suspected)
non-compliance throughout the audit. Finally, we obtained written
representations that all known instances of non-compliance with laws and
regulations have been disclosed to us.

Our audit response related to going concern

As disclosed in section Going concern in Note 3 “Critical judgements and
estimates” to the consolidated financial statements, the financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

When preparing the financial statements, the management board made a
specific assessment of the company's ability to continue as a going concern
and to continue its operations for the foreseeable future.

We discussed and evaluated the specific assessment with the management
board exercising professional judgment and maintaining professional
skepticism.

We considered whether the management board’s going concern assessment,
based on our knowledge and understanding obtained through our audit of
the financial statements or otherwise, contains all relevant events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, taking into consideration the required
significant financing activities to fund the investment program of the
upcoming years. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the related disclosures
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion.

Based on our procedures performed, we did not identify material
uncertainties about going concern.

Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause a
company to cease to continue as a going concern.

Our key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements. We have
communicated the key audit matters to the supervisory board. The key
audit matters are not a comprehensive reflection of all matters discussed.
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Revenue recognition from requlated airport charges

Risk

Our audit approach

Key observations

Revenue is one of the key indicators of the company's performance and considered a main focus of the users of the financial
statements. We refer to Note 5 Revenue in the notes to the consolidated financial statements for material accounting information
related to revenue. The vast majority of the groups revenue relates to requlated airport charges, which is primarily driven by the
passenger data and air traffic movements (ATMs). The airport charges for Amsterdam Airport Schiphol represent 63% of total
revenue. Schiphol is partly dependent on airlines for the accuracy of passenger data (numbers and their composition, where the
distinction between departing local passengers and transfer passengers affects the tariff to be used).

As mentioned in the section Our audit response related to fraud risks above, we identified a presumed risk of fraud in revenue
recognition relating to incorrect revenue recognition. Given the significance of the revenue from airport charges and the identified
fraud risk, we consider incorrect revenue recognition a key audit matter.

Based on the assessed risk of material misstatement we have performed the following audit procedures to address this risk:

» We evaluated of the appropriateness of company's revenue recognition policies in accordance with IFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers” and whether changes, if any, are appropriate in the circumstances.

» We evaluated the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of the controls related to the completeness of
registrations of passenger numbers and their composition, as obtained from third parties, and evaluated the design and
implementation of internal controls on the tariffs used.

» We carried out substantive audit procedures consisting of analytical procedures of airport charges. We used source data received
from the airlines for this analysis, such as flight movements and passenger numbers per flight. We confirmed the reliability of
this source data as part of our controls testing procedures. In addition, we performed detailed testing procedures on a select
number of weeks in 2024 to test the reliability of this source data by reconciling passenger numbers and passenger classification
to underlying documentation and thereby incorporating an element of surprise within our audit procedures.

» We used data analytics to determine that revenue from airport charges, via accounts receivable, results in cash receipts.

For accounts receivable at the balance sheet date, we also assessed this based on subsequent cash receipts.

» We evaluated the adequacy of the disclosure of revenue recognition from airport charges.

Based on our procedures performed, we have not identified any material misstatements in the accuracy of the passenger data used
in the revenue recognition for requlated airport charges.
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Valuation of investment property

Risk

Our audit approach

Key observations

Valuation of investment property, recognized at fair value, is a significant estimate and risk and a key audit matter due to the high
value of investment property, the extent of estimation uncertainty and complexity of the valuation. The fair value of investment
property is dependent on significant assumptions, as disclosed in Note 14.

As at 31 December 2024, 100% of the buildings and 9% of the land is appraised by independent external appraisers, the remainder
of the land portfolio is measured at fair value by using internal valuation models with reference to externally validated input
variables. The significant assumptions used in determining the fair value of buildings are net initial yield, market rent development
and inflation rate.

The significant assumptions used in determining the fair value of land are gross initial yield, (minimal) land value, inflation rate and
discount rate.

Based on the assessed risk of material misstatement we have performed the following audit procedures to address this risk:

» We evaluated the appropriateness of the company's investment property valuation policies in accordance with IAS 40
“Investment Property” and whether changes, if any, are appropriate in the circumstances.

» We evaluated the design and implementation of controls within the valuation process.

We evaluated the independence and professional competence of the external appraisers engaged by Schiphol. Furthermore, we
evaluated the valuations prepared by the independent external appraisers for the determination of the fair value of investment
property.

» We tested the accuracy and completeness of relevant input data which is used for the calculations of the fair value by
reconciliation to the rent administration and underlying agreements.

» We involved our own valuation specialists to evaluate the appropriateness of the valuation methodologies applied for buildings
and the reasonableness of the significant assumptions (net initial yield, market rent development and inflation rate) made by
management and the independent external appraisers.

» We involved our own valuation specialists to evaluate the appropriateness of the internal valuation models used for the
remainder of the land portfolio and the reasonableness of the significant assumptions (gross initial yield, minimal land value,
inflation rate and discount rate) made by management.

» We evaluated the adequacy of the disclosure on the valuation of investment property.

We considered the management board's assumptions and estimates made in the valuation of investment property to be reasonable.
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Valuation of investments in Tasmanian Gateway Holdings Corporation Pty Ltd (TGHC/Hobart)

Risk Schiphol has a joint venture investment in TGHC, as disclosed in Note 16. The impairment testing of last year (2023) indicated that
joint venture TGHC is sensitive to an impairment given the limited headroom based on the discounted cashflow valuation. A change
in key assumptions could trigger an impairment, as disclosed in Note 3.

Developments relating to the key assumptions weighted average cost of capital (WACC) and (long term) future growth

assumptions are driving this and inherently require significant judgement. A significant amount of goodwill (€121 million per

31 December 2024) is recognized (included in the carrying amount of the joint venture) for TGHC and we have therefore considered
the valuation a significant estimate and risk and a key audit matter in our audit.

Our audit approach Based on the assessed risk of material misstatement we have performed the following audit procedures to address this risk:

» We evaluated the appropriateness of the company'’s policies for impairments of investments and related goodwill in accordance
with IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” and IAS 28 “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures" and that the methods for making
estimates are appropriate and have been applied consistently and whether changes, if any, are appropriate in the circumstances.
We evaluated the design and implementation of controls on the impairment testing process.

» We involved our own valuation specialists to assess the valuation methodologies applied and assess the reasonableness of
market assumptions made by management, such as discount rates used.

» We verified accuracy and completeness of key input data. We evaluated the assumptions in respect of projected available future
cash flows from operating, financing and investing activities. We performed sensitivity analyses on key variables in the base case
cash flow model to understand the impact of changes in certain assumptions.

» We evaluated the adequacy of the disclosure of the impairment analysis.

Key observations We considered the management board’'s assumptions and estimates made for the impairment testing to be reasonable.
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Report on other information included in the
annual report

The annual report contains other information in addition to the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude that the other
information:
Is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material
misstatements
Contains the information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the
Dutch Civil Code for the management report (excluding the sustainability
statement) and the other information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of
the Dutch Civil Code

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and
understanding obtained through our audit of the financial statements or
otherwise, we have considered whether the other information contains
material misstatements. By performing these procedures, we comply with
the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and the
Dutch Standard 720. The scope of the procedures performed is
substantially less than the scope of those performed in our audit of the
financial statements.

The management board is responsible for the preparation of the other
information, including the management report in accordance with Part 9
of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and other information required by Part 9
of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

Report on other legal and regulatory
requirements

Engagement
We were engaged by the shareholders as auditor of Royal Schiphol
Group N.V. on 11 April 2023, as of the audit for the year 2024.

No prohibited non-audit services

We have not provided prohibited non-audit services as referred to in
Article 5(1) of the EU Regulation on specific requirements regarding
statutory audit of public-interest entities.

Description of responsibilities regarding the
financial statements

Responsibilities of the management board and the
supervisory board for the financial statements

The management board is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with EU-IFRSs and
Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. Furthermore, the management
board is responsible for such internal control as the management board
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.
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As part of the preparation of the financial statements, the management
board is responsible for assessing the company's ability to continue as a
going concern. Based on the financial reporting framework mentioned,

the management board should prepare the financial statements using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the management board either
intends to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so. The management board should disclose events and
circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the company's ability to
continue as a going concern in the financial statements.

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the company’s financial
reporting process.

Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements

Our objective is to plan and perform the audit engagement in a manner that
allows us to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence for our
opinion.

Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of
assurance, which means we may not detect all material misstatements,
whether due to fraud or error during our audit.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements. The materiality affects the nature, timing and extent
of our audit procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified
misstatements on our opinion.

Notes to the company
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We have exercised professional judgment and have maintained professional
skepticism throughout the audit, in accordance with Dutch Standards on
Auditing, ethical requirements and independence requirements.

The Information in support of our opinion section above includes an
informative summary of our responsibilities and the work performed as the
basis for our opinion.

Our audit further included among others:
Performing audit procedures responsive to the risks identified, and
obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion
Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the company's internal control
Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the management board
Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the
financial statements, including the disclosures
Evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in @ manner that achieves fair presentation
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Communication

We communicate with the supervisory board regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant findings in internal control that we
identify during our audit. In this respect we also submit an additional report
to the audit committee of the supervisory board in accordance with

Article 11 of the EU Requlation on specific requirements regarding
statutory audit of public-interest entities. The information included in this

additional report is consistent with our audit opinion in this auditor's report.

We provide the supervisory board with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

Notes to the company

financial statements Other information

Royal Schiphol Group - 2024 Annual Report

From the matters communicated with the supervisory board, we determine
the key audit matters: those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the financial statements. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, not communicating
the matter is in the public interest.

Amsterdam, 13 February 2025

EY Accountants B.V.

signed by A.E. Wijnsma
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Limited assurance report of the
independent auditor on the sustainability

statement
To: the shareholders and the supervisory board of Royal Schiphol Group N.V.

Our conclusion

We have performed a limited assurance engagement on the consolidated
sustainability statement for 2024 of Royal Schiphol Group N.V. based in
Schiphol (hereinafter: Schiphol) in section Sustainability Statement of the
accompanying Annual Report 2024 including the information incorporated
in the sustainability statement by reference (hereinafter: the sustainability
statement).

Based on our procedures performed and the evidence obtained, nothing has

come to our attention that causes us to believe that the sustainability

statement is not, in all material respects:
Prepared in accordance with the European Sustainability Reporting
Standards (ESRS) as adopted by the European Commission and
compliant with the double materiality assessment process carried out by
Schiphol to identify the information reported pursuant to the ESRS
Compliant with the reporting requirements provided for in Article 8 of
Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (Taxonomy Regulation)

Our conclusion has been formed on the basis of the matters outlined in this
limited assurance report.

Basis for our conclusion

We have performed our limited assurance engagement on the sustainability
statement in accordance with Dutch law, including Dutch Standard 3810N,
“Assurance-opdrachten inzake duurzaamheidsverslaggeving” (Assurance
engagements relating to sustainability reporting), which is a specified Dutch
standard that is based on the International Standard on Assurance
Engagements (ISAE) 3000 (Revised), “Assurance engagements other than
audits or reviews of historical financial information”.

Our assurance engagement was aimed to obtain a limited level of assurance
that the sustainability statement is free from material misstatements. The
procedures vary in nature and timing from, and are less in extent, than for a
reasonable assurance engagement. Consequently, the level of assurance
obtained in a limited assurance engagement is substantially lower than the
assurance that would have been obtained had a reasonable assurance
engagement been performed.

Our responsibilities in this regard are further described in the section Our
responsibilities for the limited assurance engagement on the sustainability
statement of our report.

We are independent of Schiphol in accordance with the Verordening inzake
de onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten (ViO, Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants, a regulation with respect to
independence) and other relevant independence regulations in the
Netherlands.
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This includes that we do not perform any activities that could result in a
conflict of interest with our independent assurance engagement and we are
not involved in the preparation of the sustainability statement, as doing so
may compromise our independence. Furthermore, we have complied with
the Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants (VGBA, Dutch Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants).

The ViO and VGBA are at least as demanding as the International code of
ethics for professional accountants (including International independence
standards) of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (the
IESBA Code) as relevant to limited assurance engagements on sustainability
statements of public interest entities in the European Union.

We believe that the assurance evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our conclusion.

Emphasis of matter

The sustainability statement has been prepared in a context of new
sustainability reporting standards, requiring entity-specific interpretations
and addressing inherent measurement or evaluation uncertainties. In this
context, we want to emphasize the following matters:

Notes to the company
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Emphasis on the most significant uncertainties affecting the quantitative
metrics and monetary amounts

We draw attention to section potential interpretations and uncertainties in
the chapter General basis for preparation for non-financial disclosure in the
sustainability statement that identifies the quantitative metrics and
monetary amounts that are subject to a high level of measurement
uncertainty and discloses information about the sources of measurement
uncertainty and the assumptions, approximations and judgements Schiphol
has made in measuring these in compliance with the ESRS.

The comparability of sustainability information between entities and over
time may be affected by the lack of historical sustainability information in
accordance with the ESRS and by the absence of a uniform practice on
which to draw, to evaluate and measure this information. This allows for the
application of different, but acceptable, measurement techniques,
especially in the initial years.

Emphasis on the double materiality assessment process

We draw attention to section Double materiality as the basis for reporting in
the sustainability statement. This disclosure explains future improvements
in the ongoing due diligence and double materiality assessment process,
including robust engagement with affected stakeholders. Due diligence is an
on-going practice that responds to and may trigger changes in the
company's strategy, business model, activities, business relationships,
operating, sourcing and selling contexts. The double materiality assessment
process requires Schiphol to make key judgments and use thresholds and
may also be impacted in time by sector-specific standards to be adopted.
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Therefore, the sustainability statement may not include every impact, risk
and opportunity or additional entity-specific disclosure that each individual
stakeholder (group) may consider important in its own particular
assessment.

Our conclusion is not modified in respect of these matters.

Comparative information not assured

Sustainability information for 2023 (and earlier) included in the
sustainability statement, has not been part of this limited assurance
engagement. Consequently, we do not provide any assurance on the
comparative information and thereto related disclosures in the
sustainability statement for 2023 and earlier.

Our conclusion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Limitation to the scope of our assurance
engagement

In reporting forward-looking information in accordance with the ESRS,
management board describes the underlying assumptions and methods of
producing the information, as well as other factors that provide evidence

that it reflects the actual plans or decisions made by the company (actions).

Forward-looking information relates to events and actions that have not yet
occurred and may never occur. The actual outcome is likely to be different
since anticipated events frequently do not occur as expected. We do not
provide assurance on the achievability of forward-looking information.

Our conclusion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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Responsibilities of management board and the
supervisory board for the sustainability
statement

The management board is responsible for the preparation of the
sustainability statement in accordance with the ESRS, including the double
materiality assessment process carried out by Schiphol as the basis for the
sustainability statement and disclosure of material impacts, risks and
opportunities in accordance with the ESRS. As part of the preparation of the
sustainability statement, management board is responsible for compliance
with the reporting requirements provided for in Article 8 of Requlation (EU)
2020/852 (Taxonomy Regulation).

The management board is also responsible for selecting and applying
additional entity-specific disclosures to enable users to understand the
company's sustainability-related impacts, risks or opportunities and for
determining that these additional entity-specific disclosures are suitable in
the circumstances and in accordance with the ESRS.

Furthermore, management board is responsible for such internal control as
it determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the sustainability
statement that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the sustainability
reporting process including the double materiality assessment process
carried out by Schiphol.
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Our responsibilities for the limited assurance
engagement on the sustainability statement

Our responsibility is to plan and perform the limited assurance engagement
in @ manner that allows us to obtain sufficient and appropriate assurance
evidence for our conclusion.

We apply the applicable quality management requirements pursuant to the
Nadere voorschriften kwaliteitsmanagement (NVKM, regulations for quality
management) and the International Standard on Quality Management
(ISQM) 1, and accordingly maintain a comprehensive system of quality
management including documented policies and procedures regarding
compliance with ethical requirements, professional standards and other
relevant legal and requlatory requirements.

Our limited assurance engagement included amongst others:
Performing inquiries and an analysis of the external environment and
obtaining an understanding of relevant sustainability themes and issues,
the characteristics of Schiphol, its activities and the value chain and its
key intangible resources in order to assess the double materiality
assessment process carried out by the company as the basis for the
sustainability statement and disclosure of all material sustainability-
related impacts, risks and opportunities in accordance with the ESRS

Obtaining through inquiries a general understanding of the internal
control environment, the company's processes for gathering and
reporting entity-related and value chain information, the information
systems and the company's risk assessment process relevant to the
preparation of the sustainability statement and for identifying the
company'’s activities, determining eligible and aligned economic
activities and prepare the disclosures provided for in Article 8 of
Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (Taxonomy Regulation), without obtaining
assurance information about the implementation or testing the
operating effectiveness of controls

Assessing the double materiality assessment process carried out by
Schiphol and identifying and assessing areas of the sustainability
statement, including the disclosures provided for in Article 8 of
Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (Taxonomy Regulation), where misleading or
unbalanced information or material misstatements, whether due to fraud
or error, are likely to arise (selected disclosures). Designing and
performing further assurance procedures aimed at assessing that the
sustainability statement is free from material misstatements responsive
to this risk analysis

Considering whether the description of the double materiality
assessment process in the sustainability statement made by the
management board appears consistent with the process carried out by
Schiphol

Performing analytical review procedures on quantitative information in
the sustainability statement, including consideration of data and trends
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Assessing whether Schiphol's methods for developing estimates are Considering, based on our limited assurance procedures and evaluation
appropriate and have been consistently applied for selected disclosures. of the evidence obtained, whether the sustainability statement as a

We considered data and trends, however our procedures did not include whole, is free from material misstatements and prepared in accordance
testing the data on which the estimates are based or separately with the ESRS

developing our own estimates against which to evaluate management's

estimates Communication

Analyzing, on a limited sample basis, relevant internal and external We communicate with the supervisory board regarding, among other
documentation available to Schiphol (including publicly available matters, the planned scope and timing of the assurance engagement and
information or information from actors throughout its value chain) for significant findings that we identify during our assurance engagement.

selected disclosures

Reading the other information in the annual report to identify material

inconsistencies, if any, with the sustainability statement Amsterdam, 13 February 2025
Considering whether the disclosures provided to address the reporting

requirements provided for in Article 8 of Regulation (EU) 2020/852

(Taxonomy Regulation) for each of the environmental objectives, EY Accountants B.V.
reconcile with the underlying records of Schiphol and are consistent or

coherent with the sustainability statement, appear reasonable, in

particular whether the eligible economic activities meet the cumulative signed by A.E. Wijnsma
conditions to qualify as aligned and whether the technical screening

criteria are met, and whether the key performance indicators disclosures

have been defined and calculated in accordance with the Taxonomy

reference framework, and comply with the reporting requirements

provided for in Article 8 of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (Taxonomy

Regulation), including the format in which the activities are presented

Considering the overall presentation, structure and fundamental

gualitative characteristics of information (relevance and faithful

representation: complete, neutral and accurate) reported in the

sustainability statement, including the reporting requirements provided

for in Article 8 of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (Taxonomy Regulation)



